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This dispute, like many others, has its genesis in the 2008 financial crisis. As the

financial markets declined in the Fall of 2008, the defendant hedge fund and its controller

found themselves unable to meet the rising number of withdrawal requests from the

[jcYwh ^ckZhidgh, AVX^c\ i]Z egdheZXi d[ ]Vk^c\ id a^fj^YViZ i]Z [jcY+ i]Z XdcigdaaZg

orchestrated a series of complex and interrelated transactions that had the ultimate effect

of converting the fund from a private limited partnership to a publicly traded limited

partnership. A key step in that series of transactions was the use of one of the funYwh

portfolio companies as a conduit to facilitate the exchange of assets necessary for the

conversion of the fund into a publicly traded entity. The plaintiff, by virtue of his

position as a shareholder in that portfolio company at the time of the transaction, is now a

limited partner in the publicly traded limited partnership. The plaintiff alleges, both

directly and derivatively on behalf of the limited partnership, that the defendant hedge

fund, its controller, the directors of the portfolio company, and the directors of the limited

eVgicZgh]^ewh \ZcZgVa eVgicZg, breached their fiduciary and contractual (implied and

express) duties, and aided and abetted breaches of those duties, throughout the conversion

process and the plaintiff seeks, among other relief, damages and restitution.

The YZ[ZcYVcih ]VkZ bdkZY id Y^hb^hh Vaa d[ i]Z eaV^ci^[[wh YZg^kVi^kZ XaV^bh [dg

failure to make demand and for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

A subset of the defendants, members of the port[da^d XdbeVcnws special committee

formed to evaluate the conduit transaction, also have bdkZY id Y^hb^hh i]Z eaV^ci^[[wh
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direct claims, to the extent they implicate the special committee, for failure to state a

claim upon which relief can be granted.

Having Xdch^YZgZY i]Z eVgi^Zhw briefs and heard argument on the motions, I

conclude that i]Z YZ[ZcYVciwh bdi^dc id Y^hb^hh the plaintiffws derivative claims should be

\gVciZY+ ^c ^ih Zci^gZin+ YjZ id i]Z eaV^ci^[[wh [V^ajgZ id bV`Z YZbVcY, Therefore, Counts

IV - VIII of the complaint are dismissed. I also conclude that the plaintiff has failed to

state a direct claim upon which relief can be granted against the special committee.

<XXdgY^c\an+ D \gVci i]Z heZX^Va Xdbb^iiZZwh bdi^dc for dismissal of Counts I and III as

to them.

I. BACKGROUND1

A. The Parties

Plaintiff, Frederick H. DiRienzo, was a shareholder in WebFinancial Corporation

(tPZWA^cVcX^Vau dg i]Z t>dbeVcnu), a Delaware corporation whose primary operating

asset was WebBank, a Utah state-chartered industrial bank headquartered in Salt Lake

City, Utah. DiRienzo was a shareholder until December 31, 2008, when WebFinancial

lVh bZg\ZY (i]Z tGZg\Zgu) ^cid V cZlan [dgbZY ?ZaVlVgZ a^b^iZY eVgicZgh]^e `cdlc Vh

WebFinancial L.P. DiRienzo received common limited partnership units of

WebFinancial L.P. as consideration in the Merger, and has held those units at all times

since the merger.

1 Unless otherwise indicated, the facts recited in this action are based on the
VaaZ\Vi^dch ^c JaV^ci^[[wh >dbeaV^ci+ YdXjbZcih ^ciZ\gVa id dg ^cXdgedgViZY ^c i]Z
Complaint, or facts of which the Court may take judicial notice.
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1. Entity defendants

?Z[ZcYVci VcY Hdb^cVa ?Z[ZcYVci LiZZa JVgicZg CdaY^c\h F,J, (tLJCu dg i]Z

tJVgicZgh]^eu) ^h V ?ZaVlVgZ a^b^iZY eVrtnership, and is the successor entity to

PZWA^cVcX^Va F,J, VcY PZWA^cVcX^Va, LJCwh ]daY^c\h ^cXajYZ PZW=Vc` VcY kVg^djh

other investments.

Defendant Steel Partners II GP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, now

known as Steel Partners Holdings GJ DcX,+ V ?ZaVlVgZ XdgedgVi^dc (i]Z tBZcZgVa

JVgicZgu)+ hZgkZh Vh i]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZg d[ i]Z JVgicZgh]^e, M]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZg Vahd

serves or has served as the general partner of Defendant Steel Partners II, LP, a Delaware

a^b^iZY eVgicZgh]^e (tLJ DDu) i]Vt is a hedge fund controlled by Defendant Warren G.

Lichtenstein, which owned eighty-[^kZ eZgXZci (63%) d[ PZWA^cVcX^Vawh Xdbbdc hidX`

before the Merger.

Defendant Steel Partners, LLC is a Delaware limited liability company that served

as the manager of the Partnership from January 1, 2009 until May 11, 2012. It is

controlled by Lichtenstein and Steel Partners Ltd.

Defendant SP General Services, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, is the

successor by assignment to Steel Partners, LLC, and has served as manager of the

Partnership since May 11, 2012.

?Z[ZcYVci PBF >Ve^iVa >dge, (tPBFu) ^h V >dadgVYd XdgedgVi^dc i]Vi egdk^YZh

investment management services. Lichtenstein is the founder, president, and majority

owner of WGL.
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2. Individual defendants

Defendant Lichtenstein, in addition to his previously stated roles with various

entity defendants, is also the Managing Member, President, and Chairman of the Board of

the General Partner.

Defendants Jack Howard, Joseph L. Mullen, Mark E. Schwarz, and John H.

McNamera, Jr. comprised the WebFinancial Board of Directors before the Merger.

Mullen and Schwarz were on the special committee formed by PZWA^cVcX^Vawh Board to

ZkVajViZ i]Z GZg\Zg (i]Z tLeZX^Va >dbb^iiZZu),

Defendants Sanford Antignas, Anthony Bergamo, John P. McNiff, Richard I.

Neal, and Allan R. Tessler, along with Lichtenstein and Mullen, became directors of the

General Partner as of July 15, 2009. Howard replaced Antignas as a director in October

2011.

B. Facts

In the Fall of 2008, at the peak of the financial crisis, SP II began receiving a large

cjbWZg d[ gZYZbei^dc gZfjZhih [gdb i]Z [jcYwh investors. Due to the structure of many

d[ LJ DDwh ^ckZhibZcih+ the fund did not have enough liquidity to satisfy the increasing

number of investors who wished to exit their investments in SP II. Faced with the

potential prospect of having to liquidate SP II, likely at a significant loss based on the

macroeconomic environment at the time, Lichtenstein began to consider options for

gZhdak^c\ LJ DDwh Y^[[^Xjlties.

Lichtenstein found his solution in WebFinancial, a publicly traded SP II portfolio

company in which SP II owned eighty five percent (85%) of the common stock.
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=gdVYan heZV`^c\+ F^X]iZchiZ^cwh eaVc was to make SP II a wholly owned subsidiary of

WebFinancial, and then convert WebFinancial from a publicly traded corporation to a

publicly traded limited partnership. Upon completion of the contemplated transaction,

LJ DD ^ckZhidgh ldjaY WZ VWaZ id tgZYZZbu i]Z^g ^ckZhibZcih ^c LJ DD Wn hZaa^c\ i]Z^g

interests in the limited partnership on an exchange, thus relieving SP II (and the limited

partnership) from having to use its own its own cash or assets to compensate an investor

who no longer wanted to participate in the fund.2

1. Lichtenstein approaches WebFinancial

On October 30, 2008, PZWA^cVcX^Vawh Board held a telephonic meeting with

Lichtenstein and lawyers from the Olshan Grundman Frome Rosenzweig & Wolosky

LLP law firm (tIah]Vcu). Olshan was participating on behalf of both WebFinancial and

SP II. During the meeting, the participants discussed F^X]iZchiZ^cwh framework for a

potential transaction between SP II and WebFinancial. At the same meeting,

PZWA^cVcX^Vawh Board authorized the formation of the Special Committee, comprised of

Schwarz and Mullen, id tgZk^Zl VcY ZkVajViZ i]Z iZgbh d[ i]Z egdedhZY igVchVXi^dc VcY

to make a recommendation to the full WebFinancial Board as to whether the proposed

transaction would be in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders,u3 The

Special >dbb^iiZZ lVh Vji]dg^oZY id gZiV^c+ Vi i]Z >dbeVcnwh ZmeZchZ+ Vcn VYk^hdgh i]Z

2 On or about April 1, 2011, SPH announced that its Common Units would be
quoted on the over-the-XdjciZg bVg`Zi dc i]Z J^c` L]ZZih, LJCwh >dbbdc Nc^ih
were listed on the New York Stock Exchange beginning on April 10, 2012.

3 Am. Compl. ¶ 73.
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Xdbb^iiZZ YZZbZY tcZXZhhVgn dg VYk^hVWaZ+u VcY ^i lVh YZX^YZY i]Vi XdjchZa gZiV^cZY Wn

the Special Committee, and not Olshan, would represent WebFinancial in any transaction

between the Company and SP II.

A few weeks later, on November 24, 2008, the Special Committee was asked to

approve the record date for the Merger between the Company and SP II. Counsel for the

LeZX^Va >dbb^iiZZ+ BVgYZgZ PnccZ LZlZaa FFJ (tBVgYZgZu)+ dW_ected to the request

WVhZY dc i]Z tjcjhjVau cVijgZ d[ i]Z igVchVXi^dc VcY i]Z [VXi i]Vi i]Z LeZXial Committee

had not yet convened its first official meeting or seen any drafts of transaction

documents. It is not clear whether the Special Committee approved the record date for

the Merger at that time.

The Special Committee held its inaugural meeting on December 1, 2008, and

officially selected Gardere as its legal counsel and elected Mullen as its Chairman. In

addition to reviewing a formal proposal for the Merger prepared by Lichtenstein, the

Special Committee discussed the subjects of shareholder notification relating to the

Merger and whether the Special Committee should retain an investment bank. The

Special Committee defined the scope of any hired inkZhibZci WVc`wh bVcYViZ as

rendering Vc de^c^dc tl^i] gZheZXi id i]Z [V^gcZhh+ [gdb V [^cVcX^Va ed^ci d[ k^Zl+ id i]Z

successor in interest to the Corporation of the consideration provided for in the proposed

igVchVXi^dc,u4 The Special Committee did not discuss whether it should request the

4 Id. ¶ 74.
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^ckZhibZci WVc`wh de^c^dc Vh id i]Z [V^gcZhh d[ i]Z GZg\Zg l^i] gZheZXi id i]Z >dbeVcnwh

minority shareholders.

The next day, Gardere received from Olshan a draft of the proposed notice to be

sent to WebFinancial shareholders regarding the Merger. At or around that time, the

Special Committee was informed i]Vi tIah]Vc ^ciZcYZY i]Z b^c^bjb hiVijidg^an gZfj^gZY

cdi^XZ id WZ Y^hig^WjiZY Tid i]Z PZWA^cVcX^Va G^cdg^in CdaYZghU dc ?ZXZbWZg 6,u5

On December 3, 2008, the Special Committee held a joint telephonic meeting with

the rest of the WebFinancial Board, Lichtenstein, and lawyers from Olshan and Gardere.

<[iZg F^X]iZchiZ^c gZk^ZlZY XZgiV^c bViZg^Vah i]Vi ]VY WZZc egZeVgZY Wn LJ DD+ tTVU

lengthy discussion ensued regarding the terms and conditions of the proposed transaction,

the timing for completing it, and the disclosure to be provided to stockholders of the

>dgedgVi^dc,u6 Lichtenstein wanted to use different valuation methods for WebFinancial

and SP II. He stated that the Companywh kVajVi^dc should WZ WVhZY dc ^ih tWdd` kVajZ+u

and that SP IIwh valuation should be predicated on its tcZi VhhZi kVajZu (tH<Ou).7

Lichtenstein also ^c[dgbZY i]Z LeZX^Va >dbb^iiZZ ti]Vi i]ZhZ bZi]dYh lZgZ cdi deZc [dg

cZ\di^Vi^dc,u During this meeting, PZWA^cVcX^Vawh Board voted to hold a special

5 Id. ¶ 77.

6 Id. ¶ 76.

7 The materials prepared by SP II for the meeting indicated that WebFinancial had a
H<O d[ $23 b^aa^dc, PZWA^cVcX^Vawh Wdd` kVajZ lVh $21,7 b^aa^dc Vh d[
November 30, 2008 and $42.1 million as of December 31, 2008. Am. Compl.
¶ 76.
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shareholders meeting to approve or reject the Merger (i]Z tLeZX^Va GZZi^c\u) on

December 29, 2008.

Upon completion of the joint meeting, the Special Committee met separately with

Gardere to discuss certain terms and conditions of the proposed transaction and the

disclosures to be given to the Companywh shareholders. The Special Committee also

reviewed potential investment banking candidates and elected to solicit formal proposals

from those candidates.

On December 9, 2008, Lichtenstein effected a temporary suspension of

withdrawal rights for investors in SP II, and notified those investors that SP II was unable

tid Xdci^cjZ id bZZi Vaa l^i]YgVlVa gZfjZhih l^i] XVh]u Vh ^i ]VY YdcZ ^c i]Z eVhi, M]^h

^c[dgbVi^dc lVh cdi XdckZnZY id PZWA^cVcX^Vawh b^cdg^in h]VgZ]daYZgh ZkZc i]dj\] i]Z

Special Committee had urged its disclosure.

The next official Special Committee meetings occurred, telephonically, on

December 10 and 11, 2008. During these meetings, Gardere updated the Special

>dbb^iiZZ dc ^ih Y^hXjhh^dch l^i] Iah]Vc tgZ\VgY^c\ i]Z Y^hXadhjgZ id WZ egdk^YZY id i]Z

>dgedgVi^dcwh hidX`]daYZgh WZ[dgZ VcY V[iZg i]Z LeZX^Va GZZi^c\,u and there were also

discussions about how the Company would be managed after it was merged into a limited

partnership. On December 11, the Special Committee officially engaged Houlihan Lokey

CdlVgY & Sj`^c (tCdja^]Vcu) as its investment banker id YZa^kZg Vc de^c^dc tl^i]

respect to the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the successor in interest to the

>dgedgVi^dc d[ i]Z Xdch^YZgVi^dc egdk^YZY [dg ^c i]Z egdedhZY igVchVXi^dc,u
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On December 17 and 18, 2008, respectively, Gardere received, for the first time, a

draft of the proposed WebFinancial Limited Partnership Agreement (tFJ<u dg the

tJVgicZgh]^e <\gZZbZciu) and a draft of the proposed agreement governing the exchange

d[ h]VgZh VcY VhhZih (i]Z t@mX]Vc\Z <\gZZbZciu) WZilZZc i]Z a^b^iZY eVgicZgh]^e VcY

Steel Partners II Master Fund, L.P. (tGVhiZg AjcYu), an entity that controlled SP II.

On December 18 and 19, 2008, the Special Committee held at least two telephonic

meetings with Gardere. Topics discussed during these meetings included terms of the

proposed Partnership Agreement, contractual appraisal rights for WebFinancialwh

minority shareholders after the Exchange Agreement was executed, and the ability of the

general partner of the new limited partnership entity to unwind the transaction

contemplated by the Exchange Agreement. Between December 18 and December 26,

0..6+ BVgYZgZ VcY Iah]Vc Y^hXjhhZY i]Z iZgbh d[ i]Z igVchVXi^dcwh jcYZgan^c\

agreements. These included the Merger Agreement, the LPA, the Exchange Agreement,

and an agreement between the Partnerh]^ewh \ZcZgVa eVgicZg VcY i]Z JVgicZgh]^ewh

manager (the tGVcV\ZbZci <\gZZbZciu), During these discussions, Gardere raised

several issues and requested numerous changes, most of which were rejected by Olshan.

On December 21, 2008, the Special Committee first became aware of the

existence of a tDeferred Fee Liabilityu while reviewing a draft of the Exchange

Agreement. The Deferred Fee Liability was an obligation of Steel Partners II (Offshore)

FiY, (tI[[h]dgZu)+ dcZ d[ several investment vehicles through which SP II operated, owed

to WGL for investment management services WGL had provided to Offshore from 2002

to 2008. M]Z ?Z[ZggZY AZZ F^VW^a^in lVh V egdYjXi d[ V t?Z[ZggZY AZZ <\gZZbZciu
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between Offshore and WGL, which prescribed how the liability would be calculated.

Under the Exchange Agreement, Offshore was to transfer the Deferred Fee Liability to

the newly created limited partnership if the exchange transaction was not unwound.

Between December 21 and December 26, 2008, Gardere informed Olshan on numerous

occasions that it tcZZYZY id jcYZghiVcY i]Z ?Z[ZggZY AZZ IWa^\Vi^dch,u Neither Gardere

nor the Special Committee ever was provided with a copy of the Deferred Fee

Agreement, told the size of the Deferred Fee Liability,8 or informed that the Deferred Fee

Arrangement was modified on December 29, 2008.

On December 26, 2008, the Special Committee held a telephonic meeting with

Gardere and Houlihan. During the meeting, the Special Committee and its advisors

reviewed both WebFinancialwh VcY LJ DDwh ejWa^X VcY cdc-public financial information.

At the meeting, Houlihan provided an oral opinion, followed up by a written fairness

opinion dated December 26, 2008, that the transaction was fair from a financial point of

view to the Partnership, as successor in interest to WebFinancial. Cdja^]Vcwh [V^gcZhh

opinion assumed the transaction would be executed as it was presented to Houlihan and

there is no evidence that the opinion, in any way, accounted for the Deferred Fee

Liability. After further discussions with Gardere, the Special Committee determined that

the igVchVXi^dc lVh t[V^g id VcY ^c i]Z WZhi ^ciZgZhih d[ i]Z hidX`]daYZghu d[ WebFinancial,

and unanimously recommended that the full WebFinancial Board approve the proposed

transaction.

8 The Deferred Fee Liability was $58.3 million as of December 31, 2008.
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Immediately following the Special Committee meeting, the entire WebFinancial

Board held a telephonic meeting in which representatives from SP II, Olshan, and

Gardere also participated. After being tdaY i]Vi ti]ZgZ lVh cdi]^c\ ZahZ d[ l]^X] T^iU

cZZYZY id WZ bVYZ VlVgZ d[ l^i] gZheZXi id i]Z LiZZa JgdedhVa+u the Special Committee

advised the full Board of its recommendation. The full Board then proceeded to approve

i]Z GZg\Zg <\gZZbZci VcY i]Z GZg\Zg+ YZZb^c\ i]Zb id WZ ^c ti]Z WZhi ^ciZgZhihu d[ i]Z

Company.

On December 29, 2008, the Merger was approved by PZWA^cVcX^Vawh

stockholders. Because the WebFinancial stockholder vote was not made contingent on a

tbV_dg^in d[ i]Z b^cdg^inu Veegdk^c\ i]Z igVchVXi^dc+ VcY WZXVjhZ LJ DD dlcZY 63% d[

PZWA^cVcX^Vawh Xdbbdc hidX`+ i]Z kdiZ id VeegdkZ i]Z igVchVXi^dc lVh V fait accompli.

The transaction closed on December 31, 2008, and became effective as of January 1,

2009, subject to post-closing adjustments and confirmation of the General PVgicZgwh

election not to unwind the transaction before June 30, 2009. While the WebFinancial

minority shareholders owned 15% of WebFinancial before the Merger, they owned only

0.5% of the limited partnership created by the Merger and Exchange.

2. The Partial Unwind

On December 31, 2008, Lichtenstein sent another letter to SP II investors touting

the merits of the WebFinancial transaction as a solution to the liquidity crunch that SP II

was facing. On January 9, 2009, Lichtenstein convened a web/teleconference with

investors to review the transaction in greater detail. F^X]iZchiZ^cwh discussion of the

WebFinancial transaction, however, was not well received by the SP II investors.
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In response to the lack of investor support for the transaction, on or about March

12, 2009, Lichtenstein distributed a term sheet to investors, but not to the former

WebFinancial minority shareholders, that modified the plan he had described in his

December 31, 2008 letter and his January 9, 2009 presentation. Under the revised plan,

investors would have two choices: Option A or Option B. Investors who chose Option A

would be electing to continue to invest with Lichtenstein and would be entitled to receive

Xdbbdc jc^ih ^c i]Z cZl a^b^iZY eVgicZgh]^e (tLJC >dbbdc Nc^ihu) and certain cash

distributions. Investors who chose Option B would be electing to terminate their

relationship with SP II, and would be entitled to receive distributions in kind of SP II

portfolio securities as well as a cash distribution.

As of April 15, 2009, investors representing 36% and 21% of the economic

interests of SP II and its various feeder funds had selected Option A and Option B,

respectively. These percentages included the interests corresponding to the Deferred Fee

Liability, although it is unclear how those interests were voted.

On May 19, 2009, the General Partner distributed an information memorandum to

^ckZhidgh YZhXg^W^c\ F^X]iZchiZ^cwh bdY^[^ZY eaVc ^c \gZViZg YZiV^a. This information was

not disclosed to the former WebFinancial minority shareholders until November 2009.

According to the information memorandum, Option A Investors, as well as the General

Partner and its affiliates, would receive certain pro rata cash distributions as well as SPH

Common Units valued at $17.28 per unit. In addition, investors were informed that
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Option B was specifically for those tPCI @F@>M HIM MI K@>@DO@ THE COMMON

UNITS [OF SPH] UNDER THE REVISED RESTRUCTURDHB JF<H,u9

The General Partner set June 5, 2009, as the final deadline for investors to select

either Option A or Option B. If an investor failed to make a selection, they were deemed

to have chosen Option B. On June 11, 2009, the General Partner reported that investors

representing 38% of the economic interests of SP II had selected Option A, and 62% had

either explicitly elected Option B or were deemed to have elected Option B by not

responding. <h l^i] i]Z eg^dg BZcZgVa JVgicZgwh gZedgi+ i]ZhZ [^\jgZh ^cXajYZY i]Z

Deferred Fee Liability.

On June 12, 2009, Lichtenstein sent a letter to investors indicating his decision to

implement the modified transaction, effective July 15, 2009. This was followed by a

letter on June 24, 2009, in which Lichtenstein: (1) gave Option B shareholders more time

to switch to Option A; and (2) revealed that Investors who selected Option B would be

receiving SPH Common Units in addition to cash and distributions in kind of SP II

portfolio securities. The number of SPH Common Units Option B Investors would

gZXZ^kZ ldjaY WZ WVhZY dc ti]Z^g egd gViV h]VgZ d[ i]Z >dbbdc Nc^ih ]ZaY Wn LJ DD , , , Vi

?ZXZbWZg 1/+ 0..6 WZ[dgZ i]Z @mX]Vc\Z <\gZZbZci lVh Z[[ZXi^kZ,u10

9 Am. Compl. ¶ 116.

10 Before the Merger and the Exchange, SP II owned 1,870,564 shares of
WebFinancial.
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On June 29, 2009, Lichtenstein, as Managing Member of the General Partner,

executed a written consent authorizing the amendment of the LPA, the Exchange

Agreement, and the Management Agreement, giving the General Partner the authority to

effectuate both a partial unwind (i]Z tJVgi^Va Ncl^cYu) and a complete unwind of the

Exchange transaction.

The modified transaction Lichtenstein proposed to SP II investors was

implemented on July 15, 2009. On that date, the General Partner also decided to affect a

teVgi^Va jcl^cY d[ i]Z @mX]Vc\Z,u Under the Partial Unwind, to satisfy the 56%11

economic interest in SP II that ultimately elected Option B, a total of $750,399,063 in

cash and assets was transferred out of the Partnership. By November 24, 2009, the

modified transaction and Partial Unwind had been fully implemented, leaving SPH with

an NAV of approximately $450 million, F^X]iZchiZ^c+ PBF+ VcY F^X]iZchiZ^cwh [Vb^an

trusts received over 3.8 million SPH Common Units from the implementation of the

modified transaction and Partial Unwind.

3. Management of SPH

After the closing of the Merger on December 29, 2008, the WebFinancial Board

and the Special Committee ceased to exist. On that date, however, Gardere wrote an

email to the CEO of WebFinancial and Olshan stating that WebFinancial, LP and the

LeZX^Va >dbb^iiZZ V\gZZY i]Vi t^ggZheZXi^kZ d[ i]Z iZgb^cVi^dc d[ i]Z LeZX^Va

11 Holders of 18% of the Fund explicitly elected Option B; 36% did not submit an
election and were deemed to have chosen Option B.
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>dbb^iiZZwh Zm^hiZcXZ+ i]^h [^gb h]djaY Xdci^cjZ id Xdchjai l^i] VcY take direction from

Mark Schwarz and Joe Mullen with regard to the pending legal representation we are

egdk^Y^c\,u Ic EVcjVgn /+ 0..7+ F^X]ienstein wrote Mullen and Schwarz a letter stating

that Mullen and Schwaro ldjaY WZXdbZ ^cYZeZcYZci Y^gZXidgh d[ LJCwh BZcZgVa JVgicZg

VcY i]Vi i]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZg ldjaY tcdi iV`Z Vcn VXi^dc i]Vt requires prior Board

approval under the Partnership Agreement without the prior wg^iiZc VeegdkVau d[ Wdi]

Schwarz and Mullen. This presumably is because, as of January 1, 2009, the General

Partner did not have a sitting board of directors. Lichtensteicwh aZiiZg V\gZZbZci VcY

BVgYZgZwh ZbV^a lZgZ cZ\di^ViZY Vi hdbZ i^bZ ^c ?ZXZbWZg 0..6, but were not disclosed

to WebFinancial shareholders prior to the Merger.

Between January 1, 2009 and July 15, 2009, Lichtenstein sought approval from

Schwarz and Mullen on at least four occasions: (1) on May 19, 2009 before distributing

the disclosure statement to SP II investors describing the modified transaction; (2) on

June 16, 2009 when Steel Partners wanted to extend the deadline under the Exchange

Agreement to implement an unwind; (3) on June 29, 2009 when the Exchange Agreement

was amended and restated to allow for a partial unwind; and (4) on July 14, 2009 to effect

the Partial Unwind the next day. In response to each request, Gardere would send an

email to Lic]iZchiZ^c hiVi^c\ tLX]lVgo VcY GjaaZc ]VkZ cdi gZ[jhZY id \gVci i]Z^g XdchZci

id Vcn VXi^dc i]Vi lZ VgZ VlVgZ ^h egdedhZY id WZ iV`Zc,u12

12 Am. Compl. ¶ 156.
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Also during this time period, Gardere was permitted to review and comment on

the draft transaction documents associated l^i] i]Z JVgi^Va Ncl^cY, BVgYZgZwh

suggestions, however, were tgZheZXi[jaan cdiZY Wji Y^hb^hhZYu Wn Iah]Vc VcY LiZZa

JVgicZgh, M]^h ^cXajYZh BVgYZgZwh XdbbZcih dc hjW_ZXih i]Vi ^i VhhZgiZY tldjaY ]VkZ

been negotiated had they been known by the Special Committee at the time of the

GZg\Zg,u13

On July 15, 2009, SPH, through the General Partner, notified Antignas, Bergamo,

Lichtenstein, McNiff, Mullen, Neal, and Tessler that they were the incoming directors of

the General Partnership. The notice did not specify when their term as directors would

begin. The first action taken by the General Partner directors, and thus the first action

taken by the General Partner Board, was a written consent authorizing the October 2009

amendment to the Amended and Restated Exchange Agreement.

4. The growth of the Deferred Fee Liability

In conjunction with the Partial Unwind, on November 23, 2009, Lichtenstein

caused SPH to enter into an Assignment and Assumption Agreement (t<hhjbei^dc

<\gZZbZciu) with Offshore. Under the terms of the Assumption Agreement, SPH agreed

id VhhjbZ I[[h]dgZwh ?Z[ZggZY AZZ F^VW^a^in and to retain WGL as an investment advisor.

In exchange, Offshore was to provide SPH with $4,486,496 in cash and 2,725,533 SPH

13 Id. at ¶ 155.
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Common Units14 (valued at $17.28 per unit), or total consideration of $51,583,706.

According to the SPH 2009 general ledger, the cash component of the consideration was

a receivable only. It is unclear whether SPH ever has received the cash it is owed from

Offshore.

The General Partner Board first received a copy of the Deferred Fee Agreement in

its inaugural meeting on February 11, 2010. At that same meeting, the General Partner

Board authorized Lichtenstein affiliate Steel Partner Limited id ejghjZ tVcn XdgedgViZ

opportunity with respect to i]Z VXfj^h^i^dc d[ >dbbdc Nc^ih+u including repurchasing

SPH Common Units from two investors who had chosen Option B and wanted to sell the

SPH Common Units they received back to SPH. The Board granted this approval after it

tYZiZgb^cZY i]Vi ^i ^h ^c i]Z best interest of the Company to retain funds to invest in the

deZgVi^dch d[ i]Z >dbeVcn,u15

On June 25, 2010, the General Partner Board approved the Second Amended

Deferred Fee Agreement. Although the Board gave its approval in June 2010, it made

the agreement effective as of July 15, 2009. The Second Amended Deferred Fee

Agreement gave WGL the right to elect, without the previously required General Partner

Board approval, the manner in which the deferred amount would be paid. Thus, WGL

14 Although these were deemed to be treasury units, a $3.13 common unit
distribution that was paid to all limited partners in April 2010 and 2011 also was
paid on these shares. The Complaint does not specify who received the $8.53
million allegedly paid on these treasury shares.

15 Id. at ¶ 161.
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could elect to be paid in cash, units, or some combination of the two. Furthermore, under

the amended agreement, if WGL elected to be paid entirely in SPH Common Units, WGL

ldjaY WZ Zci^iaZY id V /3% tY^hXdjciu16 so long as it agreed not to sell those units for at

least six months. Finally, the Second Amended Deferred Fee Agreement allowed WGL

id t^cYZmu i]Z ?Z[ZggZY AZZ F^VW^a^in id LJCwh H<O VcY id XVh] Y^hig^Wji^dch bVYZ id

LJCwh a^b^iZY eVgicZgh hjX] i]Vi ^[ LJCwh H<O ^cXgZVhZY dg LJC bVYZ cash distributions

to limited partners, the size of the Deferred Fee Liability also would increase.

On April 11, 2012, the General Partner Board approved the Third Amended and

Restated Deferred Fee Agreement. This amendment entitled WGL to an immediate

payment of a fee it was entitaZY id Vh V gZhjai d[ I[[h]dgZwh Y^hig^Wji^dc d[ [jcYh that

Offshore had maintained after the Exchange to satisfy certain contingent liabilities. More

significantly, on that same date, WGL and SPH terminated the Investor Services

Agreement17 underlying the Deferred Fee Agreement, causing the Deferred Fee Liability

to become immediately payable. By May 11, 2012, WGL received 6,939,647 Class B

Common Units,18 worth approximately $80 million, as full payment for the Deferred Fee

Liability, which was $70.5 million on March 31, 2012.

16 If, for example, the Deferred Fee Liability was $100 and SPH Common Units
were trading at $1 per unit, WGL would be entitled to 117.6 shares if it elected to
be paid entirely in SPH Common Units.

17 WGL had been providing SPH with investment management services since the
date of the Assumption Agreement in 2009.

18 Class B Common Units are the functional equivalent of SPH Common Units. Am.
Compl. ¶ 171.
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C. Procedural History

On December 7, 2011, DiRienzo commenced this action. All Defendants other

than the Special Committee filed an answer on February 7, 2012, and the Special

Committee answered the following day on February 8. After several months of

discovery, DiRienzo moved for leave to amend his complaint, which this Court granted

on January 9, 2013. On January 18, 2013, DiRienzo filed an amended complaint (the

t>dbeaV^ciu) containing five new derivative counts. That same day, all Defendants other

than the Special Committee moved to dismiss the newly added derivative counts in their

entirety. On January 22, 2013, the Special Committee moved to dismiss all counts

relating to it. After full briefing on those motions, I heard argument on May 22, 2013.

This Memorandum Opinion constitutes my ruling on those motions to dismiss.

D. 15DF>9EJ ,BAF9AF>BAE

Plaintiff, DiRienzo, has asserted eight counts against Defendants, seven of which

are relevant to the pending motions to dismiss. Counts I and III are direct claims, the

relevant parts of which assert that the Special Committee breached its fiduciary duties

both before and after the Merger. DiRienzo claims that the Special Committee breached

its fiduciary duties in conjunction with the Merger by not taking steps to properly protect

PZWA^cVcX^Vawh b^cdg^in h]VgZ]daYZgh and approving an unfair transaction. In addition,

DiRienzo avers that after the Merger, the Special Committee functioned as the board of

the General Partner and breached their fiduciary duties by approving the modified

transaction, the Partial Unwind, and the dissemination of disclosures to SP II investors

but not to the WebFinancial minority shareholders.
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Counts IV and V are derivative claims brought against the General Partner, its

Managing Member, and the General Partner Board for breaches of fiduciary or

contractual duties. In Count IV, DiRienzo contends those Defendants breached their

duties by having SPH assume and pay the Deferred Fee Liability and by allowing

Lichtenstein to purchase corporate opportunity units. In Count V, DiRienzo alleges that

those Defendants breached their duties by issuing SPH Common Units to Option B

Investors pursuant to the Partial Unwind.

In Count VI, a derivative claim, DiRienzo avers that the General Partner breached

its express and implied contractual duties under the LPA by acting without a board of

directors from the Merger date until October 2009 and by disposing of substantially all of

LJCwh VhhZih ^c i]Z JVgtial Unwind. DiRienzo also contends in Count VI that the General

Partner directors breached their contractual duties by: (1) failing to stop the Partial

Unwind, the terms of which were determined WVhZY hdaZan dc LJ DDwh ^ciZgcVa

management valuation; (2) causing SPH to assume and pay the Deferred Fee Liability;

and (3) causing SPH to issue SPH Common Units to Option B Investors as a component

of the Partial Unwind.

Count VII is a derivative claim against the General Partner for breach of the

implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. DiRienzo claims the General Partner

breached the implied covenant by: (1) distributing $750 million of SPH assets to Option

B Investors; (2) accepting an overvaluation of NAV contributed to the Partnership in the

Partial Unwind; (3) assuming and paying the Deferred Fee Liability; and (4) issuing SPH

Common Units to Option B Investors.
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?^K^Zcodwh [^cVa claim, Count VIII, is a derivative claim against Lichtenstein, the

General Partner Board, the Manager, and WGL.19 In Count VIII, DiRienzo alleges that

those Defendants aided and abetted the General Partner in breaching its fiduciary and

contractual duties, as alleged in Counts IV through VII.

Defendants counter that Claims IV through VIII should be dismissed because

DiRienzo has failed to make a pre-suit demand on the General Partner Board, and

demand [dg Vcn d[ ?^K^Zcodwh XaV^bh is not excused under either the Aronson or Rales

tests. ?Z[ZcYVcih [jgi]Zg Vg\jZ i]Vi ^[ YZbVcY ^h ZmXjhZY [dg Vcn d[ ?^K^Zcodwh

derivative claims, those claims still should be dismissed because DiRienzo has not

alleged that any Defendant engaged in conduct outside of the exculpatory provisions of

the LPA. With regard to the claim for a breach of the implied covenant of good faith and

fair dealing, Defendants aver that DiRiZcodwh XaV^b ^h [dgZXadhZY Wn ZmegZhh XdcigVXijVa

language and that, even if it is not, DiRienzo has not pled the requisite elements of an

implied covenant claim. Defendants also argue that DiRienzo has failed to assert a valid

aiding and abetting claim because: (1) the Complaint does not assert a viable underlying

claim for breach of a fiduciary duty; (2) the Count VII Defendants are, themselves,

fiduciaries and cannot be considered to have aided and abetted in a breach of fiduciary

duty; and (3) the Count VIII Defendants are agents of the fiduciaries who allegedly

breached their fiduciary duties, and cannot be held liable for aiding and abetting an

19 WGL is not actually named in Count VIII of the Complaint. DiRienzo stated in
Wg^Z[^c\ VcY Vi Vg\jbZci+ ]dlZkZg+ i]Vi PBFwh db^hh^dc [gdb >djci ODDD lVh Vc
inadvertent oversight.
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alleged breach of fiduciary duty by their principal. Finally, Defendants contend that to

the extent a valid aiding and abetting claim exists, it cannot be asserted against WGL

because WGL was not named in Count VIII and because this Court lacks personal

jurisdiction over WGL.

M]Z LeZX^Va >dbb^iiZZ _d^ch ^c ZVX] d[ ?Z[ZcYVcihw Vg\jbZcih+ VcY Vahd XdciZcYh

that DiRienzo has not pled viable direct claims against them. Regarding conduct that

occurred before the Merger, the Special Committee asserts that DiRienzo has not alleged

i]Vi ^i idd` Vcn VXi^dch i]Vi ldjaY cdi WZ ZmXjaeViZY jcYZg PZWA^cVcX^Vawh Section

102(b)(7) charter provision. With respect to conduct after the Merger, the Special

Committee argues that the Complaint specifically alleges that the General Partner had no

board for several months starting on January 1, 2009, and accordingly, the Special

Committee cannot be held liable for actions the General Partner took when there was no

board. Finally, the Special Committee contends that even if it is found to have

constituted the General Partner Board immediately after the Merger, DiRienzo has not

alleged the Special Committee took any actions that would not be exculpated by the LPA.

II. ANALYSIS

I [^ghi VYYgZhh i]Z LeZX^Va >dbb^iiZZwh bdi^dc id WZ Y^hb^hhZY [gdb the direct

claims asserted in Counts I and III of the Complaint.

A. Standard

Pursuant to Court of Chancery Rule 12(b)(6), this Court may grant a motion to

dismiss for failure to state a claim if a complaint does not assert sufficient facts that, if

proven, would entitle the plaintiff to relief. As recently reaffirmed by the Delaware
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LjegZbZ >djgi+ ti]Z governing pleading standard in Delaware to survive a motion to

dismiss ^h gZVhdcVWaZ vXdcXZ^kVW^a^in,wu20 That is, when considering such a motion, a

court must

accept all well-pleaded factual allegations in the Complaint as
true, accept even vague allegatidch ^c i]Z >dbeaV^ci Vh tlZaa-
eaZVYZYu ^[ i]Zn egdk^YZ i]Z YZ[ZcYVci cdi^XZ d[ i]Z XaV^b+
draw all reasonable inferences in favor of the plaintiff, and
deny the motion unless the plaintiff could not recover under
any reasonably conceivable set of circumstances susceptible
of proof.21

M]^h gZVhdcVWaZ tXdcXZ^kVW^a^inu hiVcYVgY Vh`h l]Zi]Zg i]ZgZ ^h V tedhh^W^a^inu d[

recovery.22 If the well-pled factual allegations of the complaint would entitle the plaintiff

to relief under a reasonably conceivable set of circumstances, the court must deny the

motion to dismiss.23 M]Z Xdjgi+ ]dlZkZg+ cZZY cdi tVXXZei XdcXajhdgn VaaZ\Vi^dch

unsupported by specific facts or . . . draw unreasonable inferences in favor of the non-

bdk^c\ eVgin,u24 Moreover, failure to plead an element of a claim precludes entitlement

to relief and, therefore, is grounds to dismiss that claim.25

20 Central Mortg. Co. v. Morgan Stanley Mortg. Capital Hldgs. LLC, 27 A.3d 531,
537 (Del. 2011) (footnote omitted).

21 Id. (citing Savor, Inc. v. FMR Corp., 812 A.2d 894, 896r97 (Del. 2002)).

22 Id. at 537 & n.13.

23 Id. at 536.

24 Price v. E.I. duPont de Nemours & Co., Inc., 26 A.3d 162, 166 (Del. 2011) (citing
Clinton v. Enterprise RentQAQCar Co., 977 A.2d 892, 895 (Del. 2009)).

25 Crescent/Mach I P'rs, L.P. v. Turner, 846 A.2d 963, 972 (Del. Ch. 2000) (Steele,
V.C., by designation).
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Generally, a court will consider only the pleadings on a motion to dismiss under

Rule 12(b)(6). t< _jY\Z bVn Xdch^YZg YdXjbZcih djih^YZ d[ i]Z eaZVY^c\h dcan when: (1)

the document is integral to a plaintiff's claim and incorporated in the complaint, or (2) the

document is not being relied upon to prokZ i]Z igji] d[ ^ih XdciZcih,u26

B. 3=9 2C97>5? ,B@@>FF99JE ,BA8G7F Before the Merger

As to whether DiRienzo has stated a claim against the Special Committee for their

actions leading up to the Merger, DiRienzo argues that this Court should not consider the

fact that WebFinanc^Vawh X]VgiZg includes an exculpatory provision pursuant to 8 Del. C.

§ 102(b)(7). According to DiRienzo, because the Complaint alleges facts that establish

that the Merger should be evaluated under the entire fairness standard of review, the

Special Committee has the burden of proving that the Merger was entirely fair. He

contends that because entire fairness cannot be proven at the motion to dismiss stage, it is

premature for the Special Committee to seek dismissal by invoking its 102(b)(7) charter

provision, ?^K^Zco^dwh Vg\jbZci, however, misstates the law governing the interaction

of 102(b)(7) charter provisions and entire fairness. Hence, I reject his contention and find

i]Vi ^i ^h Veegdeg^ViZ id Xdch^YZg i]Z >dbeVcnwh /.0(W)(5) egdk^h^dc ^c evaluating the

LeZX^Va >dbb^iiZZwh bdi^dc id Y^smiss.

tDi ^h V cdl lZaa-established principle of Delaware corporate law that in an

interested merger, the controlling or dominating shareholder proponent of the

26
'CC?E L& +E=FH? +E?H@O 5Rrs, 2013 WL 3803977, at *1 n.2 (Del. 2013).
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transaction WZVgh i]Z WjgYZc d[ egdk^c\ ^ih Zci^gZ [V^gcZhh,u27 Defendants in this case

concede that Lichtenstein, the controlling shareholder proponent of the Merger, will have

the burden of establishing the entire fairness of the Merger. But, it does not follow from

the fact that Lichtenstein must prove the Merger was entirely fair that the Special

Committee shares that same obligation. A special committee must prove the entire

fairness of its actions when a plaintiff alleges that the committee engaged in non-

exculpated behavior such as by acting disloyally or in bad faith. In such cases, the

burden of entire fairness flows from the actions, or lack thereof, of the special committee

itself, and not from the separate obligations of a controlling or dominant shareholder.

In support of his argument, DiRienzo cites the Delaware Supreme Court case of

Emerald Partners v. Berlin28 for the proposition thai tl]Zc Zci^gZ [V^gcZhh ^h i]Z

applicable standard of judicial review, a determination that the director defendants are

exculpated from paying monetary damages can be made only after the basis for their

a^VW^a^in ]Vh WZZc YZX^YZY,u29 Importantly, the Court in Emerald Partners made that

statement after it had been decided that that the Y^gZXidghw VXi^dch were subject to entire

fairness review.30 Thus, the directors in Emerald Partners were precluded from relying

27 Kahn v. Lynch Commc'n Sys., Inc., 638 A.2d 1110, 1117 (Del. 1994) (emphasis
added).

28 787 A.2d 85 (Del. 2001).

29 Id. at 94.

30 Id. at 92-93.
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on a 102(b)(7) charter provision by virtue of their conduct, not because the transaction

was subject to entire fairness review for other reasons. In that sense, Emerald Partners

jcYZgb^cZh+ gVi]Zg i]Vc hjeedgih+ ?^K^Zcodwh XdciZci^dc,31

DiRienzio seeks to bootstrap his entire fairness claim against Lichtenstein into an

entire fairness claim against the Special Committee. This he cannot do. To burden the

Special Committee with proving entire fairness, DiRienzio must allege sufficiently that

the committee members breached a non-exculpated fiduciary duty. This inquiry

cZXZhhVg^an gZfj^gZh Xdch^YZgVi^dc d[ i]Z >dbeVcnwh /.0(W)(5) egdk^h^dc, Having

YZX^YZY ^i ^h Veegdeg^ViZ id Xdch^YZg PZWA^cVcX^Vawh /.0(W)(5) egdk^h^dc Vi i]^h hiV\Z d[

the proceedings, I now turn to whether the Complaint alleges that the Special Committee

engaged in conduct outside the exculpatory charter provision.

31 See also /E H? 7FKJA?HE 5?HK )FGG?H )FHG& 7RAFC>?H& *?HBL;JBL? 1BJB@., 52 A.3d
54/+ 565 c,50 (?Za, >], 0.//) (tM]Z Zci^gZ [V^gcZhh hiVcYVgY ^aa hj^ih i]Z ^cfj^gn
whether disinterested directors who approve a self-dealing transaction and are
protected by an exculpatory charter provision authorized by 8 Del. C. § 102(b)(7)
can be held liable for breach of fiduciary duties. Unless there are facts suggesting
that the directors consciously approved an unfair transaction, the bad faith
preference for some other interest than that of the company and the stockholders
that is critical to disloyalty is absent. The fact that the transaction is found to be
unfair is of course relevant, but hardly sufficient, to that separate, individualized
inquiry. In this sense, the more stringent, strict liability standard applicable to
interested parties . . . is critically different than that which must be used to address
Y^gZXidgh hjX] Vh i]dhZ dc i]Z LeZX^Va >dbb^iiZZ,u)
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1. 496.>A5A7>5?JE '&($6%$)% 7=5DF9D CDBH>E>BA

PZWA^cVcX^Vawh /.0(W)(5) egdk^h^dc ZmXjaeViZh Y^gZXidgh [dg WgZVX]Zh d[ i]Z Yjin

of care, but it does not exculpate directors from liability for: (1) a breach of the duty of

loyalty; (2) acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or

a knowing violation of the law; or (3) any transaction from which a director derives an

improper personal benefit.32

A plaintiff may demonstrate that a director violated the duty of loyalty by alleging

non-conclusory facts suggesting that the director has an improper self-interest in a

transaction,33 lacked independence,34 or acted in bad faith.35 For the reasons that follow,

I conclude that DiRienzo has failed to allege that the Special Committee breached its duty

of loyalty or engaged in any conduct beyond the scope of the 102(b)(7) exculpatory

provision in negotiating the terms of the Merger.

32 Special Comm. ?Z[h,w Ie, =g, @m, <+ <gi^XaZ MP@FAMC, ?^K^Zcod ]Vh VaaZ\ZY
that the Special Committee breached its fiduciary duties. I consider
PZWA^cVcX^Vawh X]VgiZg+ i]ZgZ[dgZ+ id WZ ^ciZ\gVa id i]Z >dbeaV^ci WZXVjhZ ^i
directly implicates the scope of the Special Committeewh ediZci^Va a^VW^a^i^Zh. See
HQM Wexford LLC v. Encorp, Inc., 610 <,0Y /07+ /17 (?Za, >], 0..1) (ti]Z court
may consider, for certain limited purposes, the content of documents that are
integral to or are incorporated by reference into the complaint. Under Rule
12(b)(6), a complaint may, despite allegations to the contrary, be dismissed where
the unambiguous language of documents upon which the claims are based
XdcigVY^Xi i]Z XdbeaV^ci'h VaaZ\Vi^dchu) (X^iVi^dch db^iiZY),

33 Solomon v. Armstrong, 747 A.2d 1098, 1115 (Del. Ch. 1999).

34 Orman v. Cullman, 794 A.2d 5, 22 (Del. Ch. 2002).

35 Stone v. Ritter, 911 A.2d 362, 370 (Del. 2006).
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2. The Special Committee was not financially interested in the Merger

When a fiduciary appears on both sides of a transaction or receives a personal

benefit that is not shared by all stockholders, that fiduciary has an impermissible self-

interest in the transaction that implicates the duty of loyalty.36 Not all personal benefits,

however, create a disqualifying self-interest for a fiduciary. Only benefits that are

material to the fiduciary, as judged from the perspective of the fiduciary herself, raise

issues under the duty of loyalty.37

DiRienzo argues only that Schwarz had a compromising personal financial interest

in the Merger. <XXdgY^c\ id i]Z >dbeaV^ci+ LX]lVgowh ^ckZhibZci XdbeVcn HZlXVhiaZ

Capital Management (tHZlXVhiaZu) partnered with SP II in 2006 to acquire Fox and

Hound RestajgVci Bgdje (tAdm VcY CdjcYu) [dg $/4/ b^aa^dc,38 DiRienzo claims that

because a liquidation of SP II would have harmed the value of the Fox and Hound

investment, Schwarz had a financial interest in approving the Merger and preventing SP

DDwh liquidation.

36 Benihana of Tokyo, Inc. v. Benihana, Inc., 891 A.2d 150, 191 (Del. Ch. 2005).

37 See In re Transkaryotic Therapies, Inc., 954 A.2d 346, 364 (Del. Ch. 2008)
(tDbedgiVcian+ i]Z bZgZ [VXi i]Vi V Y^gZXidg gZXZ^kZY hdbZ WZcZ[^i that was not
shared generally by all shareholders is insufficient; i]Z WZcZ[^i bjhi WZ bViZg^Va,u)

38 Am. Compl. ¶ 12.
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Although DiRienzo alleges that Fox and Hound was significant to SP II,39 he does

not make any allegations pertaining to the materiality of the Fox and Hound investment

to Schwarz. There are no allegations eZgiV^c^c\ id LX]lVgowh eZghdcVa [^cVcXZh+ i]Z h^oZ

of his stake in Newcastle, or even i]Z h^\c^[^XVcXZ d[ Adm VcY CdjcY id HZlXVhiaZwh

edgi[da^d, < Y^gZXidgwh ediZci^Vaan Xdc[a^Xi^c\ [^cVcX^Va ^ciZgZhi cZZY cdi WZ aVg\Z+ Wji

there must be some basis to conclude it is material enough to that director that it could

overcome their rational business judgment.40 DiRienzo has not made any such

allegations regarding Schwarz; thus, DiRienzo has failed to establish that Schwarz was

financially interested in the Merger.

3. The Special Committee was independent

DiRienzo next argues that the Special Committee directors breached their duty of

loyalty by virtue of their lack of independence from Lichtenstein and SP II. Delaware

law presumes the independence of corporate directors.41 tIjg aVl ^h XaZVg i]Vi bZgZ

allegations that directors are friendly with, travel in the same social circles, or have past

39 Id. (tTAdm VcY CdjcYU lVh dcZ d[ LJ DDwh ide ]daY^c\h Vi i]Z i^bZ d[ i]Z GZg\Zg+
representing 3% of the value of the Fund at that time. Because [Fox and Hound]
was a private holding of the Fund, SP II estimated it could take three (3) years to
a^fj^YViZ ^ih edh^i^dc,u)

40 See Gantler v. Stephens, 965 A.2d 695, 708 (Del. 2009) (finding the potential loss
of a single-branch bank as a cl^Zci d[ V Y^gZXidgwh ]ZVi^c\ VcY V^g XdcY^i^dc^c\
XdbeVcn lVh bViZg^Va id i]Vi Y^gZXidg VcY hj[[^X^Zci id Xdbegdb^hZ i]Vi Y^gZXidgwh
^cYZeZcYZcXZ l]Zc i]Z XdbeaV^ci VaaZ\ZY i]Vi i]Z Y^gZXidg lVh tV bVc d[
comparatively modest means, and that his company had few major assets and was
XdbeaZiZan aZkZgV\ZY,u)

41 Aronson v. Lewis, 473 A.2d 805, 815 (Del. 1984).
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business relationships with the proponent of a transaction or the person they are

^ckZhi^\Vi^c\+ VgZ cdi Zcdj\] id gZWji i]Z egZhjbei^dc d[ ^cYZeZcYZcXZ,u42 Rather, to

demonstrate that a director lacks independence, a plaintiff must demonstrate that a

Y^gZXidg ^h tWZ]daYZcu id V Xdcigdaa^c\ eVgin tdg hd jcYZg i]Z^g ^c[ajZcXZ i]Vi Ti]Z

Y^gZXidgwhU Y^hXgZi^dc ldjaY WZ hiZg^a^oZY,u43 For a director to be beholden to a

controlling party, the ties between the director and that party must be material to the

Y^gZXidg+ bZVc^c\ i]Vi i]Z i^Zh XdjaY V[[ZXi i]Z Y^gZXidgwh ^beVgi^Va^in,44 As is the case

with personal financial interests, materiality is judged from the perspective of the director

in question.45

?^K^Zcodwh VaaZ\Vi^dch gZ\VgY^c\ i]Z ^cYZeZcYZcXZ d[ i]Z LeZX^Va >dbb^iiZZ Yd

not state a viable claim against either Mullen or Schwarz. According to the Complaint,

Mullen had served as a director of WebFinancial from 1995 until the date of the

Merger.46 ?^K^Zcod ]Vh cdi X^iZY Vcn Vji]dg^in [dg i]Z egdedh^i^dc i]Vi GjaaZcwh aZc\i]

of service, without more, compromises his independence. The allegations in the

Complaint pertaining to Schwarz are no more compelling. In addition to the Fox and

42
/E H? 2,9 7RAFC>?H 1BJB@&, 67 A.3d 496, 509 (Del. Ch. 2013).

43 Rales v. Blasband, 634 A.2d 927, 936 (Del. 1993) (citing Aronson, 473 A.2d at
815).

44
/E H? 'CCFO% /E=& 7RAFC>?H 1BJB@&% 2011 WL 4863716, at *7 (Del. Ch. Oct. 13, 2011).

45 Cede & Co. v. Technicolor, Inc., 634 A.2d 345, 364 (Del. 1993).

46 Am. Compl. ¶ 13.
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Hound investment, Schwarz also has a connection to SP II by having served as a director

of SL Industries, another SP II portfolio company, since 2001.47 Regardless of whether I

consider these allegations separately or together, they are insufficient to show that any of

these relationships were material to Schwarz. Without any allegations pertaining to

materiality, I do not consider ^i gZVhdcVWan XdcXZ^kVWaZ i]Vi LX]lVgowh Adm VcY CdjcY

investment and service on the SL Industries board would have influenced his decision

making with respect to the Merger.48

For similar reasons, DiRienzo also has failed to demonstrate that the Special

>dbb^iiZZ lVh WZ]daYZc id F^X]iZchiZ^c dg LJ DD, tTMU]Z LjegZbZ >djgi ]Vh bVYZ XaZVg

that a plaintiff seeking to show that a director was not independent must meet a

materiality standard . . . the simple fact that there are some financial ties between the

interested party and the director is not disqualifying,u49 At most, DiRienzo has

established financial ties between Lichtenstein and the Special Committee. Without any

allegations that Schwarz or Mullen had personal or financial ties to Lichtenstein that were

material to them, it is not reasonably conceivable that the Special Committee was

47 Id. ¶ 12.

48 It is by no means certain that a liquidation of SP II would harm LX]lVgowh Adm VcY
Hound investment or necessarily cause him to lose his SL Industries directorship.
Even assuming his investment would decline and he would lose the directorship,
however, I reach the same conclusion.

49
/E H? 2,9 7RAFC>?HI 1BJB@., 67 A.3d at 509.
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beholden to Lichtenstein. Accordingly, DiRienzo has failed to establish that the Special

Committee lacked independence.

4. The Special Committee did not approve the Merger in bad faith

Having determined that the Special Committee was disinterested and independent,

I now address ?^K^Zcodwh XdciZci^dch i]Vi i]Z LeZX^Va >dbb^iiZZ VXiZY ^c WVY [V^i] ^c

negotiating the Merger. NcYZg ?ZaVlVgZ aVl+ WVY [V^i] l^aa WZ [djcY ^[ V t[^YjX^Vgn

intentionally fails to act in the face of a known duty to act, demonstrating a conscious

disregard [dg ]^h Yji^Zh,u50 tDc i]Z igVchVXi^dcVa XdciZmi+ TVcU ZmigZbZ hZi d[ [VXih T^hU

required to sustain a disloyalty claim premised on the notion that disinterested directors

lZgZ ^ciZci^dcVaan Y^hgZ\VgY^c\ i]Z^g Yji^Zh,u51 The proper inquiry is not whether a

director neglected to do all that they should have under the circumstances, which

implicates the duty of care, Wji gVi]Zg l]Zi]Zg i]Z Y^gZXidg t`cdl^c\an VcY XdbeaZiZan

[V^aZY id jcYZgiV`Z i]Z^g gZhedch^W^a^i^Zh,u52

DiRienzio claims the Special Committee acted in bad faith based on: (1) the

LeZX^Va >dbb^iiZZwh [V^ajgZ id dWiV^c higjXijgVa egdiZXi^dch [dg PZWA^cVcX^Vawh b^cdg^in

shareholders; and (2) its ijgc^c\ V tWa^cY ZnZu id i]Z ?Z[ZggZY AZZ <\gZZbZci.

50 Lyondell Chem. Co. v. Ryan, 970 A.2d 235, 243 (Del. 2009) (quoting In re Walt
Disney Co. Deriv. Litig., 906 A.2d 27, 67 (Del. 2006)).

51 Id. (quoting /E H? 1?;H )FHG& 7Rholder Litig., 967 A.2d 640, 654r55 (Del. Ch.
2008)).

52 Id. at 243r44.
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Regarding the Special Committeewh [V^ajgZ to negotiate for adequate structural

protections, DiRienzo argues the Special Committee: (/) VXXZeiZY LiZZa JVgicZghw

kVajVi^dc iZgbh [dg i]Z bZg\Zg tl^i]dji fjZhi^dcu9 (0) Y^Y cdi dWiV^c Vcn YZVa egdiZXi^dc

devices such as a majority of the minority vote; (3) agreed to give minority shareholders,

in time and substance, the minimum allowable notice for the Merger; (4) failed to ensure

disclosure of material information to minority shareholders; (5) used a deeply flawed

fairness opinion; (6) agreed to reduce or eliminate fiduciary duties for the GP and board

of the successor entity; and (7) failed to make a recommendation about the Merger to the

shareholders. These allegations, individually or collectively, do not support a conclusion

that DiRienzo could recover under any reasonably conceivable set of circumstances on

his claim that the Special Committee acted in bad faith.

Before addressing what the Special Committee allegedly failed to do, I first note

what actions the Special Committee did take. The Special Committee hired reputable

outside counsel and a reputable financial advisor. Throughout December 2008, the

Special Committee met either in person or telephonically, on at least eight separate

occasions. In addition to those meetings, between December 18 and December 26, 2008,

Gardere negotiated the terms of the Merger Agreement, Partnership Agreement,

Exchange Agreement, and Management Agreement with Olshan, and Gardere raised

tbViZg^Va ^hhjZhu l^i] Iah]Vc during those negotiations. Finally, the Special Committee

approved the Merger transaction after reviewing public and non-public financial

information for WebFinancial and SP II, receiving a favorable fairness opinion from its

financial advisor, and discussing the transaction with its outside legal and financial
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advisors. Although the Special Committee here was relatively ineffectual and performed

their obligations in a less-than-exemplary manner, I do not consider it reasonably

conceivable, based on the actions the Special Committee took, that Plaintiff could prove

that either Mullen or Schwarz t`cdl^c\an VcY XdbeaZiZan [V^aZY id jcYZgiV`Z i]Z^g

gZhedch^W^a^i^Zh,u P^i] i]Vi ^c b^cY+ D ijgc id ?^K^Zcodwh XaV^bh,

DiRienzio argues, but did not allege, that the Special Committee accepted without

question the financial information prepared by Steel Partners in support of the Exchange

Ratio. The Complaint does not allege explicitly that the Special Committee never

questioned the information Steel Partners provided them. On December 3, 2008, the

Special Committee and Lichtenstein participated in a telephonic meeting that included

tTVU aZc\i]n Y^hXjhh^dc , , , gZ\VgY^c\ i]Z iZgbh VcY XdcY^i^dch d[ i]Z egdedhZY

igVchVXi^dc,u53 In that regard, the Complaint asserts that F^X]iZchiZ^c tX]dhZ i]Z bZi]dYh

d[ kVajVi^dcu [dg i]Z GZg\Zg VcY i]dhZ tbZi]dYh lZgZ cdi deZc [dg cZ\di^Vi^dc.u54

Drawing all inferences in ?^K^Zcodwh favor, I assume from the allegations that the Special

>dbb^iiZZ cZkZg X]VaaZc\ZY F^X]iZchiZ^cwh [^cVcX^Va ^c[dgbVi^dc,

That failure, however, does not constitute bad faith in the circumstances of this

case. There are no allegations in the Complaint that the Special Committee knew the

information Steel Partners provided was wrong or otherwise misleading, nor are there

any allegations that the Special Committee actually knew that the Exchange Ratio was

53 Am. Compl. ¶ 76.

54 Id.
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jc[V^g, tAdg ejgedhZh d[ hiVi^c\ V Yjin d[ adnVain XaV^b+ l]Vi i]Z ?Z[ZcYVci ?^gZXidgh

should have known is substantively less culpable, for liability purposes, than what they

actually knew.u55 In the absence of allegations that the Special Committee knew there

were problems with the financial information Lichtenstein provided to them, their failure

to question that information may have been negligent, but it did not rise to the level of

bad faith.

DiRienzidwh XdciZci^dc i]Vi i]Z LeZX^Va >dbb^iiZZwh [V^aure to obtain structural

protections [dg PZWA^cVcX^Vawh b^cdg^in h]VgZ]daYZgh constitutes bad faith is equally

without merit. There is no per se rule under Delaware law that requires a special

committee to obtain protections for minority shareholders. Allegations that the Special

>dbb^iiZZ [V^aZY id dWiV^c V tbV_dg^in d[ i]Z b^cdg^inu egdk^h^dc dg di]Zg b^cdg^in

protections speak to the quality of the deal the Special Committee reached, which

implicates the duty of care, not good faith. This is especially true in this instance where

the Special Committee hired outside counsel who negotiated repeatedly, albeit

unsuccessfully, with Olshan and Lichtenstein.

?^K^Zcodwh Xriticisms pertaining to disclosure also do not state a claim that the

Special Committee acted in bad faith. The failure of the Special Committee to ensure the

disclosure of material information to shareholders speaks to the degree of care that it

exercised in negotiating the Merger. The Complaint does not support a reasonable

55
/E H? (0$I 9AFC?I;C? )CK<% /E=& 7RAFC>?HI 1BJB@., 2013 WL 396202, at * 12 (Del.
Ch. Jan. 31, 2013).
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inference that the Special Committee either deliberately agreed to give the WebFinancial

b^cdg^in h]VgZ]daYZgwh ^chj[[^X^Zci cdi^XZ dg `cdl^c\an l^i]]ZaY bViZg^Va ^c[dgbVi^dc

from them. In fact, in at least once instance, t]Z LeZX^Va >dbb^iiZZ tjg\ZYu F^X]iZchiZ^c

VcY LJ DD id Y^hXadhZ ^c[dgbVi^dc VWdji F^X]iZchiZ^cwh Xdbbjc^XVi^dch l^i] LJ DD

^ckZhidgh id PZWA^cVcX^Vawh b^cdg^in h]VgZ]daYZgh,56 Under these circumstances, it is not

reasonably conceivable that any flaws in the disclosure disseminated to WebFinancialwh

minority shareholders will be shown to have resulted from i]Z LeZX^Va >dbb^iiZZwh

knowing and complete failure to undertake their responsibilities.

The Special Committeewh gZa^VcXZ on an allegedly deeply flawed fairness opinion

is similarly not evidence of bad faith. DiRienzo complains that Houlihan, among other

things, never accounted for the Deferred Fee Liability, did not address the

appropriateness of the methodology used in the Exchange, never expressed any opinion

as to what the SPH Common Units would be worth after the Exchange, and did not

estimate or express any opinion regarding the liquidation value of either SP II or

WebFinancial. Even ahhjb^c\ ZVX] d[ i]ZhZ gZegZhZcih V hZg^djh [aVl ^c Cdja^]Vcwh

fairness opinion, there are no allegations that the Special Committee knew, or had reason

to know, that the opinion was flawed when it relied on it. If the Special Committee did

56 Am. Compl. ¶ 78.
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not knowingly rely on a flawed opinion, it is not reasonably conceivable that the Special

Committee acted in bad faith by accepting the opinion of its outside financial advisor.57

?^K^Zcodwh XdciZci^dc i]Vi i]Z LeZX^Va >dbb^iiZZ VXiZY ^c WVY [V^i] Wn

tXdcXZY^c\u id tDefendantsw VcY Iah]Vcwh YZbVcY id Za^b^cViZ [^YjX^Vgn Yji^Zh [dg i]Z

GP and the members of the Board, to attempt to give the General Partner virtually

jcWg^YaZY Y^hXgZi^dc ^c i]Z FJ<+u ^h unpersuasive. Delaware law expressly permits

parties to limited partnership agreements to modify the scope of the fiduciary duties that

govern their relationship.58 The fact that the original LPA eliminated fiduciary duties for

the General Partner and the General Partner Board59 is not, itself, evidence that the

Special Committee acted in bad faith. The Special Committee did not have an obligation

id cZ\di^ViZ Vc FJ< i]Vi VXijVaan egZhZgkZY dg ZmeVcYZY i]Z g^\]ih d[ PZWA^cVcX^Vawh

minority shareholders. The allegations in the Complaint do not support a reasonable

inference that the Special Committee made no effort to protect the rights of

WebFinancialwh b^cdg^in h]VgZ]daYZgh+ cdg do they support a reasonable inference that

57 See In re BJRI 9AFC?I;C? )CK<% /E=& 7RAFC>?HI 1BJB@&, 2013 WL 396202, at *12
(tP]^aZ i]Z JaV^ci^ffs quibWaZ l^i] Gdg\Vc LiVcaZnws use of supermarkets in its
public company analysis, they fail to allege that the Board actually knew that the
VcVanh^h gZhjaiZY ^c Vc ^cXdggZXi [V^gcZhh de^c^dc,u)

58 See In re K-Sea Transp., 0./0 PF //2013/+ Vi *3 (tTMU]Z ?ZaVlVre Revised
Uniform Limited Partnership Act provides that a limited partnership agreement
may expand, restrict, or eliminate any duty, other than the implied contractual
XdkZcVci d[ \ddY [V^i] VcY [V^g YZVa^c\u),

59 Special Comm, ?Z[h,w Ie, =g, @m, =+ p 7.9(e). As discussed below, the LPA was
amended later and no longer includes this provision.
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the Special Committee believed that the minority shareholders would have been better off

by not agreeing to the Merger. The Complaint indicates that the Special Committee

made an effort in numerous respects id hVi^h[n i]Z^g dWa^\Vi^dch id PZWA^cVcX^Vawh

minority shareholders. Having made i]dhZ Z[[dgih+ i]Z LeZX^Va >dbb^iiZZwh level of

success or failure in negotiations in this case implicates, at most, their duty of care.

<XXdgY^c\an+ i]Z LeZX^Va >dbb^iiZZwh V\gZZbZci id Vc FJ< i]Vi Za^b^cViZY [^YjX^Vgn

duties for the General Partner and the General Partner Board, when the Special

Committee actually negotiated the terms of the LPA with SP II and Lichtenstein, does not

support a reasonable inference that the Special Committee acted in bad faith.

A^cVaan+ i]Z LeZX^Va >dbb^iiZZwh [V^ajgZ id gZXdbbZcY i]Z GZg\Zg id

PZWA^cVcX^Vawh b^cdg^in h]VgZ]daYZgh YdZh cdi \^kZ rise to a claim of bad faith. To the

extent the Special Committee had an obligation to make a recommendation to the

minority shareholders, there are no allegations suggesting that the Special Committee

knowingly failed to satisfy that obligation. There is also no reasonable basis to conclude

that the Special Committee deliberately would have failed to notify the minority

shareholders, as it had nothing to lose by doing so given that the Special Committee was

in favor of the transaction. Accordingly, it is not reasonably conceivable that the Special

>dbb^iiZZwh [Vilure to recommend the Merger to PZWA^cVcX^Vawh b^cdg^in h]VgZ]daYZgh

was done in bad faith.

5. Acceptance of the Deferred Fee Liability is not evidence of bad faith

?^K^Zcod Vg\jZh i]Vi i]Z LeZX^Va >dbb^iiZZwh igZVibZci d[ i]Z ?Z[ZggZY AZZ

Liability during negotiations for the Merger also manifests bad faith. This claim fails for
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largely the same reasons discussed above. The Complaint alleges that: (1) the Special

Committee became aware of the Deferred Fee Agreement; (2) Gardere inquired about the

Deferred Fee Agreement and expressed its need to understand it; (3) the Special

Committee was never given a copy of the Deferred Fee Agreement; and (4) the Special

Committee was told WZ[dgZ gZXdbbZcY^c\ i]Z GZg\Zg i]Vi ti]ZgZ lVh cdi]^c\ ZahZ d[

which [it] nZZYZY id WZ bVYZ VlVgZ d[ l^i] gZheZXi id i]Z LiZZa JgdedhVa,u60 The

Complaint does not allege, however, that the Special Committee was actually aware of

how the Deferred Fee Agreement would affect the Merger and the Exchange. Although

the Complaint stateh i]Vi BgVci M]dgidc+ LJ DDwh VjY^idg+ Xdch^YZgZY LJCwh Vhhjbei^dc d[

i]Z ?Z[ZggZY AZZ F^VW^a^in id WZ Vc t^ciZ\gVa eVgiu d[ i]Z GZg\Zg VcY @mX]Vc\Z+61 there

are no allegations that the Special Committee knew d[ BgVci M]dgidcwh edh^i^dc, Simply

stated, the Special Committee was aware of the Deferred Fee Agreement, the Special

Committee tried to obtain information about the Deferred Fee Agreement, and the

Special Committee was unable to acquire the information it sought through no fault of its

own, other than possibly a lack of diligence or assertiveness. The Special Committee did

not know, and had no reason to know, i]Z tbViZg^Va^inu d[ i]Z ?Z[ZggZY AZZ <\gZZbZci id

the Exchange. Without such knowledge, I conclude that it is not reasonably conceivable

60 Am. Compl. ¶ 147.

61 Am. Compl. ¶ 146.
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that the Special Committee acted in bad faith by recommending the Merger and

Exchange without fully understanding the scope of the Deferred Fee Agreement.62

DiRienzo has failed to allege, therefore, that the Special Committee engaged in

any conduct thai ldjaY cdi WZ ZmXjaeViZY Wn PZWA^cVcX^Vawh /.0(W)(5) X]VgiZg egdk^h^dc,

Accordingly, to the extent Counts I and III of the Complaint assert claims against the

Special Committee for actions taken during the negotiation of the Merger, those claims

are dismissed.

C. 3=9 2C97>5? ,B@@>FF99JE ,BA8G7F *;F9D the Merger

The Special Committee also argues that DiRienzo has failed to state any viable

claim relating to actions taken by Mullen or Schwarz after the Merger for two reasons.

First, because the Complaint alleges that the General Partner did not have a board of

directors from January 2009 to October 2009, the Special Committee Defendants assert

that they cannot be held liable for any actions taken in that time period because they were

not on the General Partner Board. Second, even if Mullen or Schwarz is presumed to

have been a director on the General Partner Board, the Complaint does not allege that

either of them engaged in conduct that would not be exculpated by the LPA. I address

these contentions in turn.

62 Even if this conduct was grossly negligent, gross negligence does not constitute
bad faith under Delaware law. See In re Walt Disney Co. Deriv. Litig., 906 A.2d
Vi 44 (tM]ZgZ ^h cd WVh^h ^c eda^Xn+ egZXZYZci dg Xdbbdc hZchZ i]Vi ldjaY _jhi^[n
Y^hbVcia^c\ i]Z Y^hi^cXi^dc WZilZZc \gdhh cZ\a^\ZcXZ VcY WVY [V^i],u),
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1. The Special Committee is not liable for conduct that occurred when there
was no General Partner Board

M]Z >dbeaV^ci hiViZh i]Vi tTVU[iZg i]Z Xadh^c\ d[ i]Z GZg\Zg+ i]Z PZWA^cVcX^Va

Board of Directors and the Special Committee ceased to existu63 VcY tTi]here was no

Board of the GP from January 1, 2009 through at least September 30, 2009, and during

that time, if not longer, Lichtenstein dictated the terms of the challenged transactions with

cd =dVgY dkZgh^\]i,u64 Dc VYY^i^dc+ ti]ZgZ ^s no evidence in the record to suggest that the

LeZX^Va >dbb^iiZZ ZkZg XdckZcZY V[iZg i]Z GZg\Zg ?ViZ,u65

Despite specifically pleading that there was no General Partner Board from at least

January 1, 2009 to September 30, 2009, DiRienzo claims that the Special Committee is

liVWaZ [dg XdcYjXi Yjg^c\ i]^h eZg^dY WVhZY dc BVgYZgZwh ?ZXZbWZg 07+ 0..6 ZbV^a VcY

F^X]iZchiZ^cwh EVcjVgn /+ 0..7 aZiiZg, This argument fails for two primary reasons. First,

DiRienzo cannot argue that Lichtenstein simultaneously was running the General Partner

both with and without supervision. The contradictory allegations preclude a finding that

it was reasonably conceivable that the Special Committee had an obligation to act as

directors of the General Partner Board when there was no General Partner Board.

Second, the email and the letter that DiRienzo relies on do not indicate that Mullen and

Schwarz actually agreed to assume any director or quasi-director role with the General

Partner. Given the contradictory allegations about the existence of a board, and the vague

63 Am. Compl. ¶ 151.

64 Id. ¶ 184.

65 Id. ¶ 155.



42

nature of the cited documents, it is not clear what, if anything, Mullen and Schwarz

allegedly agreed to.

?^K^Zcodwh XdciZci^dc i]Vi GjaaZc VcY LX]lVgo lZgZ de facto directors during

this time period is also unpersuasive. t< TYUZ [VXid director is one who is in possession

of and exercising the powers of that office jcYZg XaV^b VcY Xdadg d[ Vc ZaZXi^dc,u66 There

are no allegations that Mullen and Schwarz did anything between January 2009 and

October 2009. The fact that Mullen and Schwarz reportedly tY^Y cdi gZ[jhZ id \gVci i]Z^g

XdchZciu id F^X]iZchiZ^c dc [djg dXXVh^dch YdZh cdi Xdchi^ijiZ Vc ZmZgX^hZ d[ Y^gZXidg^Va

power.67 DiRienzo has not alleged facts that would support a reasonable inference that

Mullen and Schwarz were de facto directors or otherwise were obligated to act as

directors of the General Partner Board between January 2009 and October 2009.

Furthermore, DiRienzo has offered no legal or factual support for the contention that

Mullen and Schwarz can be held liable for the BZcZgVa JVgicZgwh XdcYjXi Yjg^c\ V i^bZ

period when they were not directors or otherwise obligated to act.68 Therefore, all claims

66 Hockessin Cmty. Ctr., Inc. v. Swift, 59 A.3d 437, 459 (Del. Ch. 2012) (quoting
Prickett v. Am. Steel & Pump Corp., 253 A.2d 86, 88 (Del. Ch. 1969)) (emphasis
added).

67 See Hockessin Cmty. Ctr., Inc. v. Swift+ 37 <,1Y Vi 4. (X^i^c\ i]Z [VXih i]Vi tZVX]
[de facto director] participated in multiple board meetings per year, voted on
numerous issues, and devoted significant time and energy to the business and
V[[V^gh d[ i]Z >ZciZgu Vh Zk^YZcXZ d[ de facto director status).

68 See Official Comm. of Unsecured Creds. of Integrated Health Servs., Inc. v.
Elkins+ 0..2 PF /72707.+ Vi *6 (?Za, >], <j\, 02+ 0..2) (tM]Z ?Z[ZcYVcih ]VkZ
argued that once a director has resigned, that director may no longer be held liable
for the subsequent actions of the Board. To the extent that the Plaintiff is suing the
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in Counts I and III of the Complaint against Mullen and Schwarz that relate to that time

period are dismissed.

2. The Special Committee is not liable for conduct after the Merger

The claims against the Special Committee seek money damages only. DiRienzo,

however, has not alleged that the Special Committee engaged in any unexculpated

conduct after October 2009. In addition, Schwarz ceased to be a director of

WebFinancial, or any of its successor entities, once the Merger was completed. Schwarz

cannot be liable, therefore, for any actions taken by the General Partner after that time.

Thus, all claims against Schwarz involving actions taken on or after January 1, 2009 are

dismissed.

Mullen eventually became a director on the General Partner Board, but that did not

occur until October 1, 2009, at the earliest. Once Mullen became a director of the

General Partner Board, as discussed in greater detail in Section II.D.3.a, infra, he was

entitled to rely on the exculpatory provisions of the LPA. Counts I and III assert claims

relating to the Merger, the Exchange, and the Partial Unwind. The Merger closed on

December 31, 2008, and the Partial Unwind was effected on July 14 or 15, 2009,69 so

both transpired before Mullen was a director on the General Partner Board. The

Exchange Agreement was modified on October 1, 2009, but the Complaint does not

non-Elkins Defendants solely based on their positions as board members, this is a
XdggZXi hiViZbZci d[ aVl,u) (X^iVi^dc db^iiZY),

69 Am. Compl. ¶¶ 1, 154.
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allege facts from which it appears reasonably conceivable that Mullen took any actions

related to the October 1, 2009 amendment that were grossly negligent or done in bad

faith. Even if the amendment was harmful to SPH, there are no allegations that Mullen

and the other General Partner directors were uninformed or acted with a conscious

disregard for their duties. The same is true regarding the instructions SPH gave its

transfer agent between October 13, 2009 and November 23, 2009 to distribute SPH

Common Units pursuant to the modified transaction plan. As the Complaint fails to

allege that Mullen engaged in any unexculpated conduct once he became a director on the

General Partner Board, all claims in Counts I and III against Mullen for acts he

committed after that time are dismissed.

D. The Derivative Claims

The Complaint states five derivative causes of action on behalf of SPH. SPH is a

limited partnership organized pursuant to the Delaware Revised Uniform Limited

JVgicZgh]^e <Xi (t?KNFJ<u), Section 17-/..1 d[ ?KNFJ< egdk^YZh i]Vi t[i]n a

derivative action, the complaint shall set forth with particularity the effort, if any, of the

plaintiff to secure initiation of the action by a general partner or the reasons for not

bV`^c\ i]Z Z[[dgi,u70 Delaware courts have adopted the pleading standard used in the

corporate context to determine whether demand is excused under Section 17-1003.71

70 6 Del. C. § 17-1003.

71 Forsythe v. ESC Fund Mgmt. Co. (U.S.), 2007 WL 2982247, at *5 (Del. Ch. Oct.
9, 2007).
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Accordingly, a plaintiff bringing a derivative action on behalf of a limited partnership

must plead particularized facts sufficient to demonstrate that demand is excused. This

eVgi^XjaVg^oZY eaZVY^c\ gZfj^gZbZci ^h tVc ZmXZei^dc id i]Z \ZcZgVa cdi^XZ eaZVY^c\

hiVcYVgY+u VcY V derivative eaV^ci^[[wh eaZVY^c\ WjgYZc ^h tbdgZ dcZgdjh i]Vi i]Vi gZfj^gZY

id l^i]hiVcY V KjaZ /0(W)(4) bdi^dc id Y^hb^hh,u72

1. On whom should demand be made

DiRienzo asserts that in the limited partnership context, whether demand would be

futile should only be considered from the perspective of the general partner itself, and not

from i]Z \ZcZgVa eVgicZgwh WdVgY dg di]Zg t^ciZgcVa YZX^h^dc bV`^c\ VeeVgVijh,u In other

words, futility of demand is a function of how likely it is that the general partner would

be liable to the limited partners, and the disinterestedness or independence of the general

eVgicZgwh WdVgY ^h ^ggZaZkVci, In support of his argument, DiRienzo cites four cases73 that

purportedly stand for the proposition that demand in the limited partnership context

should be directed at a general partner itself, and not at the directors of the general

partnerwh WdVgY.

72 Levine v. Smith, 591 A.2d 194, 207, 210 (Del. 1991).

73 The cases are: Gerber v. EPE Hldgs., LLC, 2013 WL 209658, at *13 (Del. Ch.
Jan. 18, 2013); -FJA;D 5RHI% 1&5& L& .;CCMFF> 6?;CJO 5RHI, 1998 WL 832631, at
*5 (Del. Ch. Nov. 10, 1998); Forsythe v. ESC Fund Mgmt. Co. (U.S.), 2007 WL
2982247, at *8-9 (Del. Ch. Oct. 9, 2007); and an October 26, 2012 transcript
ruling from Brinckerhoff v. El Paso Pipeline G.P. Co., C.A. No. 7141->L+ ?Z[h,w
Mot. Dismiss Tr., at 42-45 Oct. 26, 2012.
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All of the cases DiRienzo cites, however, are distinguishable from this case for the

same reason. LJCwh FJ< provided that the limited partners shall elect the directors of the

General Partner. In each of the cases referenced by DiRienzo, the limited partners do not

appear to have had any say in how the general partner was governed or operated.74 In

this case, the LPA required that: (1) the limited partners vote for the General Partner

Board; (2) a majority of the directors be tindependent+u Vh YZ[^cZY Wn i]Z FJ<; and (3)

the directors of the General Partner Board expressly owe the limited partners fiduciary

duties.75 This differs materially from Gotham Partners, in which pre-suit demand against

i]Z \ZcZgVa eVgicZgwh WdVgY lVh ^cVeegdeg^ViZ WZXVjhZ tit would ignore the reality that it

is the general partner who owes the limited partners fiduciary duties, not the management

d[ i]Z \ZcZgVa eVgicZg,u76 Because the General Partner Board is elected by the limited

partners and because the members of the board owe fiduciary duties to the limited

partners, demand in this case should be directed at the board of the General Partner, and

not the General Partner itself.77

74 See, e.g., Forsythe, 0..5 PF 0760025+ Vi *0 (ti]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZg ^h /..% dlcZY
by three individuals l]d bV`Z je i]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZgwh WdVgY d[ Y^gZXidghu),

75 ?Z[h,w Ie, =g, @m, /+ p 13.4(c)(i-iii, ix).

76
-FJA;D 5RHI% 1998 WL 832631, at *5.

77 ?^K^Zcodwh Vg\jbZci i]Vi YZbVcY h]djaY ]VkZ WZZc Y^gZXiZY dcan id i]Z BZcZgVa
Partner itself also is belied by his own Complaint, in which he specifically alleges
i]Vi YZbVcY dc i]Z tWdVgY d[ LJCwh BJu ldjaY WZ [ji^aZ+ Wji bV`Zh cd VaaZ\Vi^dch
eZgiV^c^c\ id i]Z [ji^a^in d[ bV`^c\ YZbVcY dc LJCwh BZcZgVa JVgicZg ^ihZa[, Am.
Compl. ¶¶ 182r194.
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2. The applicability of the LPA

Before directly examining the issue of whether demand was excused in this case, I

fighi VYYgZhh ?^K^Zcodwh more general argument that the LPA, and its exculpatory

provisions, are unenforceable with respect to the transactions that he challenges. As

Y^hXjhhZY WZadl+ V Y^gZXidgwh ediZci^Va a^VW^a^in [dg V X]VaaZc\ZY igVchVXi^dc ^h V gZaZkVnt

factor in determining demand futility. Where directors are exculpated contractually or

di]Zgl^hZ [gdb a^VW^a^in [dg XZgiV^c XdcYjXi+ ti]Zc V hZg^djh i]gZVi d[ a^VW^a^in bVn dcan WZ

found to exist if the plaintiff pleads a non-exculpated claim against the directors based on

eVgi^XjaVg^oZY [VXih,u78 Therefore, the enforceability of the LPA has an important bearing

on whether demand was excused in this case.

DiRienzo avers that the exculpatory provisions of the LPA should not be enforced

because: (1) the LPA was imposed upon the limited partners who did not agree to be

bound by its terms; (2) the LPA is unenforceable because it was adopted by a board that

had breached its fiduciary duties; and (3) the limited partners received insufficient notice

about the LPA before it was adopted. I discuss each of these contentions in turn.

a. The limited partners agreed to the LPA

DiRienzo avers that because he and other limited partners did not participate in the

negotiation of, or voluntarily agree to be bound by, the terms of the LPA, it does not

constitute a valid contractual relationship between him and LJC, ?^K^Zcodwh description

of proper consent in this context is incorrect. At some point before the Merger, DiRienzo

78 Wood v. Baum, 953 A.2d 136, 141 (Del. 2008).
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voluntarily purchased shares of WebFinancial. BZXVjhZ tTXUdgedgViZ X]VgiZgh VcY WnaVlh

VgZ XdcigVXih Vbdc\ V XdgedgVi^dc'h h]VgZ]daYZgh+u79 when DiRienzo became a

shareholder of WebFinancial, he agreed to be bound by the terms of the charter and its

bylaws. He also agreed, subject to his right to sell his shares or seek appraisal in certain

instances, to be bound by changes to PZWA^cVcX^Vawh X]VgiZg VcY WnaVlh. As a default

rule, Delaware corporations are permitted to merge with limited partnerships and convert

i]Z^g h]VgZ]daYZghw hidX` ^cid a^b^iZY eVrtnership units of that limited partnership.

DiRienzo has not alleged that WebFinancial had any bylaw or charter provision that

varied that default rule. Thus, DiRienzo, when he purchased his stock in WebFinancial,

agreed to be bound by the terms of a legally valid conversion of the Company from a

corporation to a limited partnership.

DiRienzo also agreed to be bound by the terms of the LPA well after he purchased

WebFinancial stock. After the Merger was announced, DiRienzo effectively could have

rejected the terms of the LPA by perfecting his appraisal rights and exiting his investment

in WebFinancial. Although, in fact, he did seek appraisal, DiRienzo failed to comply

with the statutory record holder requirement of Section 262(a) of the Delaware General

>dgedgVi^dc FVl (t?B>Fu),80 and accordingly, he was denied appraisal.81 Because

79 Airgas, Inc. v. Air Products & Chems., Inc., 8 A.3d 1182, 1188 (Del. 2010).

80 8 Del. C. § 262(a).

81
*B6B?EPF L& 7J??C 5RHI .C>@I& 1&5&, 2009 WL 4652944, at *9 (Del. Ch. Dec. 8,
2009).
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DiRienzo failed to perfect his appraisal rights, he constructively consented to becoming a

limited partner in SPH, and to be bound by the LPA.

Finally, the LPA is a valid and binding agreement because nearly 99% of the

originally issued partnership units in SPH were disseminated to former investors in SP II

who, even if DiRienzo did not, voluntarily agreed to be bound by its terms. The fact that

a majority of former SP II investors did not want to become limited partners in SPH is

irrelevant, and if anything, confirms that the former SP II investors who did decide to join

the limited partnership and be bound by the LPA, did so voluntarily. Thus, not only did

DiRienzo himself agree to be bound by the terms of the LPA, but the LPA was agreed to

voluntarily by an overwhelming majority of SPH unit holders, making it binding on all of

LJCwh a^b^iZY eVgicZgh,

b. No invalidation due to breach of fiduciary duty

DiRienzo next argues that if the Special Committee, WebFinancial Board, and the

SP II, as the controlling shareholder, breached their fiduciary duties in authorizing the

Merger and adopting the LPA, then the LPA cannot be enforceable. In support of this

argument, DiRienzo cites 5;H;DFKEJ )FDD=REI Inc. v. QVC Network Inc., for the

egdedh^i^dc i]Vi ?Z[ZcYVcih tXVccdi WZ cdl ]ZVgY id Vg\jZ i]Vi Ti]ZnU dWiV^cZY kZhiZY

contract rights by negotiating and obtaining contractual provisions from a board acting in

violation of its fiduciary Yji^Zh,u82 But, ?^K^Zcodwh gZa^VcXZ dc Paramount in this

instance is misplaced.

82 637 A.2d 34, 51 (Del. 1994).
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In Paramount, the Delaware Supreme Court found that certain agreements

between Paramount and Viacom that were designed to protect a potential merger between

the two companies were inherently invalid, and thus unenforceable. In that context, the

>djgi gZ_ZXiZY O^VXdbwh Vg\jbZci i]Vi ^i ]VY a legitimate expectation of enforcing those

agreements because Viacom was aware that the agreements were unenforceable in that

they were bdi] jcgZVhdcVWaZ VcY ^cXdch^hiZci l^i] JVgVbdjciwh WdVgYwh [^YjX^Vgn Yji^Zh,

Paramount stands for the proposition that a party cannot obtain contract rights from a

WdVgY l]Zc i]Z VXi d[ V\gZZ^c\ id i]Vi XdcigVXi ^h ^ihZa[ V k^daVi^dc d[ i]Z WdVgYwh [^YjX^ary

duties. Unlike the deal protection devices in Paramount, there is no credible basis for the

VhhZgi^dc i]Vi PZWA^cVcX^Vawh ejghj^i d[ V bZg\Zg dg VYdei^dc d[ i]Z FJ< lVh ^c]ZgZcian

invalid. I therefore decline to extend the logic of Paramount to the facts of this case,

where the Merger was validly consummated in accordance with the DGCL and

PZWA^cVcX^Vawh XZgi^[^XViZ d[ ^cXdgedgVi^dc+ VcY ?^K^Zcodwh dlcZgh]^e ^ciZgZhi ^c

WebFinancial was converted into a limited partnership interest in SPH.

c. No invalidation due to disclosure issues

Assuming that insufficient disclosure could undermine the enforceability of the

LPA, such a claim would belong to the former investors of SP II. It was those former

^ckZhidgh l]d Xdbeg^hZY V hjWhiVci^Va bV_dg^in d[ LJCwh original unit holders, and thus,

any invalidation of the LPA would be a function of their uninformed acceptance.

Whether or not SP II investors were provided adequate disclosures to make an informed

decision regarding acceptance of the LPA is a claim that belongs to, and can only be

asserted by, those investors. DiRienzo was not an investor in SP II and has no basis to
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challenge the LPA on their behalf. I conclude, therefore, that none of DiRiZcodwh

challenges to the enforceability of the LPA has merit. M]jh+ D l^aa Xdch^YZg i]Z FJ<wh

provisions ic VhhZhh^c\ l]Zi]Zg ?^K^Zcodwh [V^ajgZ id bV`Z YZbVcY lVh ZmXjhZY ^c i]^h

case.

3. Exculpation of Claims under the LPA

a. Is the LPA ambiguous?

Having determined that the LPA is a valid and enforceable agreement, I turn next

to ?^K^Zcodwh XaV^b i]Vi i]Z FJ<wh ZmXjaeVidgn egdk^h^dch VgZ VbW^\jdjh VcY [V^a id

eliminate fiduciary duties.

The LPA contains numerous sections dealing with fiduciary duties and

exculpation, LZXi^dc /1,2(X)(^m) hiViZh+ tTZUmXZei Vh egovided in this Agreement or

otherwise required by the Delaware Limited Partnership Act, each Director shall have the

same fiduciary duties and obligations to the Partnership and the Limited Partners as a

director of a corporation incorporated under the DGCL has to such corporation and its

hidX`]daYZgh,u83 Thus, under the LPA, directors on the General Partner Board owe the

limited partners and SPH the full range of common law fiduciary duties.

The exposure of directors to personal liability for breaches of those fiduciary

duties is limited by Section 7.8(a) of the LPA which reads:

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this
Agreement, no Indemnitee shall be liable to the Partnership,
the Limited Partners or any other Persons who have acquired

83 ?Z[h,w Ie, =g, @m, /+ p 13.4(c)(ix).
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interests in the Partnership Securities, for any losses, claims,
damages, liabilities, joint or several, expenses (including legal
fees and expenses), judgments, fines, penalties, interest,
settlements or other amounts arising as a result of any act or
omission of an Indemnitee, or for any breach of contract
(including breach of this Agreement) or any breach of duties
(including breach of fiduciary duties) whether arising
hereunder, at law, in equity, or otherwise, unless there has
been a final and non-appealable judgment entered by a court
of competent jurisdiction determining that, in respect of the
matter in question, the Indemnitee acted in bad faith or
engaged in fraud, willful misconduct or gross negligence.84

M]Z YZ[^c^i^dc d[ Vc tIndemniteeu jcYZg i]Z LPA includes both the General Partner and

the directors on the General Partner Board.85 Accordingly, the General Partner and the

directors can be liable to the Partnership or the limited partners only if they act in bad

faith or engage in fraud, willful misconduct or gross negligence.

Defendants complain that the LPA further limits the liability of the General

Partner and the directors in the specific context of the agreements the Partnership entered

into to effectuate the Merger and the Exchange. Defendants first point to Section 7.9(a)

of the LPA, which states in relevant part:

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement
or any duty otherwise existing at law or equity, and without
limitation of Section 7.6, the existence of the conflicts of
interest described in or contemplated by this Agreement, the
Management Agreement, the Exchange Agreement and all
agreements, documents and instruments related to the Merger
or the Exchange are hereby approved, and all such conflicts

84 Id. § 7.8(a).

85 Id. at 5.
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of interest are waived, by all Partners and shall not constitute
a breach of this Agreement.86

Defendants also focus on to Section 7.1(c), which provides:

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the
Delaware Limited Partnership Act or any applicable law, rule
or regulation, each of the Partners and each other Person who
may acquire an interest in Partnership Securities hereby (i)
approves, ratifies and confirms that execution, delivery and
performance by the parties thereto of this Agreement, the
Management Agreement, the Exchange Agreement and all
agreements, notices, consent forms and other documents or
instruments in connection with, or contemplated by, the
Merger and the Exchange . . . and (iii) agrees that the
execution, delivery, or performance by the General Partner,
any Group member or any Affiliate of any of them, of this
Agreement or any agreement authorized or permitted under
this Agreement . . . shall not constitute a breach by the
General Partner of any duty that the General Partner may owe
the Partnership or the Limited Partners or any other Persons
under this Agreement (or any other agreements) or of any
duty existing at law, in equity or otherwise.87

Based on my reading of the LPA, I conclude that it is unambiguous and that the

LPA restricts the lim^iZY eVgicZghw VW^a^in to challenge many aspects of the Merger.

Section 7.8(a) provides a ceiling, not a floor, for Indemnitee liability. There is nothing in

that provision that would preclude another portion of the LPA from further reducing or

eliminating the liability of the General Partner.88 Sections 7.1(c)(iii) and 7.9(a) plainly

86 Id. § 7.9(a).

87 Id. § 7.1(c).

88 Nor would there be any restriction at law. By statute, the only duty that the parties
to a limited partnership agreement cannot eliminate is the implied contractual
covenant of good faith and fair dealing. 6 Del. C. § 17-1101(d).
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exercise that prerogative in situations where the General Partner executes, delivers, or

performs any agreement authorized or permitted under the LPA. In those situations, the

General Partner contractually has eliminated its liability to limited partners to the greatest

extent allowed by law.

It is also evident that the Merger, the Exchange, and all agreements related to the

GZg\Zg VcY @mX]Vc\Z VgZ tV\gZZbZciThU Vji]dg^oZY dg eZgb^iiZY jcYZgu i]Z FJ<, Dc

addition to the language of Sections 7.9(a) and 7.1(c)(i), which unequivocally authorizes

and approves those agreements, Section 14.3(d)(i)89 and Section 13.1(k)90 also support

the argument that the Merger and the Exchange are covered by the exculpatory

provisions in Section 7.1(c)(iii) and that those exculpatory provisions were intended to

reach broadly.

With that framework in mind, I turn to the last key element of the demand futility

analysis that is common throughout all of ?^K^Zcodwh XaV^bs: the General Partner Board.

89 LZXi^dc /2,1(Y)(^) gZVYh tHdil^i]hiVcY^c\ Vcni]ing else contained in this Article
XIV or in this Agreement, the General Partner is permitted, without Limited
Partner approval, to (i) effect the Merger, the Exchange and all transactions
XdciZbeaViZY Wn i]Z @mX]Vc\Z <\gZZbZci,u ?Z[h,w Ie, =g, @m, /+ p 14.3(d)(i).

90 LZXi^dc /1,/(`) gZVYh tTZUVX] JVgicZg V\gZZh i]Vi i]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZg+ l^i]dji i]Z
approval of any Partner, any Unitholder or any other Person, may amend any
provision of this Agreement and execute, swear to, acknowledge, deliver, file and
record whatever documents may be required in connection therewith, to reflect . . .
(k) an amendment that the General Partner determines in its sole discretion to be
necessary or appropriate in order to consummate any of the transactions
contemplated by thZ ZmX]Vc\Z V\gZZbZci,u Id. § 13.1(k).
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4. The General Partner Board

At all relevant times when the General Partner had a board of directors, that board

consisted of seven members. Under the express terms of the LPA, the Board must

Xdch^hi d[ tVi aZVhi V bV_dg^in d[ DcYZeZcYZci ?^gZXidgh,u91 M]Z iZgb tDcYZeZcYZci

?^gZXidgh+u ^h YZ[^cZY ^c i]Z FJ< id bZVc V t?^gZXidg l]d bZZih i]Z ^cYZeZcYZcXZ

standards required to serve on an audit committee of a board of directors, as established

by the Securities Exchange Act and the rules and regulations of the Commission

thereunder and by any National Securities Exchange on which the Common Units are

a^hiZY [dg igVY^c\,u92

The original General Partner Board consisted of Antignas, Bergamo, Lichtenstein,

McNiff, Mullen, Neal, and Tessler. Since the General Partner =dVgYwh ^cXZei^dc ^c

October 2009, the only change in membership occurred in October 2011, when Howard

replaced Antignas. This change is of minimal importance for futility of demand

purposes, however, because Defendants concede that neither Howard nor Antignas were

independent directors.93 Defendants do claim, however, that the remaining five directors

Bergamo, McNiff, Mullen, Neal, and Tessler are all independent (tDcYZeZcYZci

?^gZXidghu), a claim that DiRienzo contests.

91 Id. § 13.4(c)(iii).

92 Id. at 5.

93 ?Z[ZcYVcih Vahd XdcXZYZ F^X]iZchiZ^cwh aVX` d[ ^cYZeZcYZcXZ,



56

Before examining the independence of each of these directors, I note that SPH is

now a New York Stock Exchange-listed company. As an NYSE company, SPH is

required to comply with the NYSE rules pertaining to director independence. As

ChancZaadg Lig^cZ gZXZcian cdiZY+ tTVUai]dj\] i]Z [VXi i]Vi Y^gZXidgh fjVa^[n Vh

independent under the NYSE rules does not mean that they are necessarily independent

jcYZg djg aVl ^c eVgi^XjaVg X^gXjbhiVcXZh+u i]Z HRL@ gjaZh lZgZ t^c[ajZcXZY Wn

experience in DeaVlVgZ , , , VcY lZgZ i]Z hjW_ZXi d[ ^ciZch^kZ hijYn Wn ZmeZgi eVgi^Zh,u94

<h hjX]+ WZXVjhZ tTiU]Zn XdkZg bVcn d[ i]Z `Zn [VXidgh i]Vi iZcY id WZVg dc ^cYZeZcYZcXZ

. . . they are a useful source for this court to consider when assessing an argument that a

Y^gZXidg aVX`h ^cYZeZcYZcXZ,u95

The General Partner =dVgYwh Xdbedh^i^dc ]Vh gZbV^cZY ^YZci^XVa+ [dg Vaa ^ciZcih

and purposes, since it was established. The current directors of the General Partner

Board who had to satisfy the NYSE independence requirements for SPH to become a

listed company are the same directors who have been on the General Partner Board since

the Board was created. I infer, therefore, that the General Partner Board has been in

compliance with the NYSE independence rules at all times since i]Z =dVgYwh inception.96

94
/E H? 2,9 7RAFC>?HI 1BJB@&, 67 A.3d 496, 510 (Del. Ch. 2013).

95 Id.

96 DiRienzo has not alleged that there were any other changes (e.g., changes in
director compensation, new consulting or advisory arrangements, material changes
^c V Y^gZXidgwh [^cVcX^Va X^gXjbhiVcXZh) i]Vi b^\]i V[[ZXi WdVgY ^cYZeZcYZcXZ h^cXZ
SPH has become a NYSE-listed entity.
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DiRienzo does not appear to dispute this fact.97 Thus, there is at least one tjhZ[ja hdjgXZu

that indicates that the General Partner Board always has included a majority of

independent directors.

An inquiry of director independence is individualized in nature and not based on

the board as a whole. For the reasons that follow and consistent with the inference drawn

above, I conclude that all of the Independent Directors were, in fact, independent.

a. Bergamo

According to t]Z >dbeaV^ci+ =Zg\Vbd t]Vh WZZc V[[^a^ViZY l^i] LJ DD h^cXZ Vh

early as 2007 and has been a nominee of SP II to portfolio companies of the hedge

[jcY,u98 Dc VYY^i^dc+ =Zg\Vbd thZgkZh dc i]Z WdVgY d[ LJ <Xfj^h^i^dch CdaY^c\h+ d[

which Lichtenstein is PresidZci+ >]V^gbVc+ VcY >@I,u99 There are no other allegations

regarding =Zg\Vbdwh gZaVi^onship with SPH or Lichtenstein; thus, DiRienzo essentially

X]VaaZc\Zh =Zg\Vgbdwh ^cYZeZcYZcXZ WVhZY dc i]Z [VXi that Bergamo and Lichtenstein

have a business relationship beyond SPH. Allegations such as these fall well short of

what is required under Delaware law to establish that a director lacks independence.

DiRienzo has failed to provide a reasonable basis for this Court to conclude that

97 The LPA incorporates the NYSE independence rules through its definition of
tDcYZeZcYZci ?^gZXidgh,u D[ at least a majority of the directors on the General
Partner Board failed to satisfy the NYSE criteria, then the General Partner Board
would be in breach of the LPA. DiRienzo has alleged numerous breach of
XdcigVXi XaV^bh V\V^chi ?Z[ZcYVcih+ Wji cdcZ gZaViZY i]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZg =dVgYwh
independence.

98 Am. Compl. ¶ 17.

99 Id.
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=Zg\Vbdwh tV[[^a^Vi^dcu l^i] LP II was somehow sufficient to compromise his

^cYZeZcYZcXZ, Ajgi]ZgbdgZ+ i]ZgZ VgZ cd VaaZ\Vi^dch i]Vi =Zg\Vbdwh tV[[^a^Vi^dcu l^i]

SPH, his role as a nominee of SP II portfolio companies, or his service as a director of SP

Acquisitions Holdings was material to him in any way. The particularized allegations

DiRienzo has made regarding Bergamo fail to demonstrate that he lacked independence

from Lichtenstein or SPH.

b. McNiff

The Complaint states only that McNiff was a director on the General Partner

Board.100 As there are no other particularized allegations pertaining to McNiff, DiRienzo

has not alleged any basis to support a reasonable inference that McNiff lacked

independence.

c. Mullen

As previously discussed, DiRienzo did not allege sufficient facts to call into

question Mullenwh ^cYZeZcYZcXZ Vh V bZbWZg d[ PZWA^cVcX^Vawh LeZX^Va >dbb^iiZZ,

Other than Mullen joining the General Partner Board, there are no particularized

allegations regarding Mullen after the Merger. Without additional allegations that

support a reasonable inference that Vcn d[ GjaaZcwh ^ciZgVXi^dch l^i] F^X]iZchiZ^c dg LJC

were material to him, I cannot conclude that he lacked independence.

100 Id. ¶ 15.
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d. Neal

In the Complaint, DiRiecod VaaZ\Zh+ tHZVa ]Vh hZgkZY Vh V Y^gZXidg l^i]

Lichtenstein in the past, having served as a director of SP II portfolio company United

DcYjhig^Vah >dge, Vh [Vg WVX` Vh 0..5,u101 There are no other particularized allegations

pertaining to Neal. For the reasons previously stated, this allegation fails to create any

meaningfja YdjWi Vh id HZVawh ^cYZeZcYZcXZ,

e. Tessler

As with McNiff, the Complaint states only that Tessler was a director on the

General Partner Board.102 As there are no other particularized allegations pertaining to

Tessler, DiRienzo has not established any basis to conclude that Tessler lacked

independence. The General Partner Board, therefore, consisted of a majority of

independent directors at all times relevant to the pending motions to dismiss. Based on

that premise, I next consider the substance of DiRienzdwh YZg^kVi^kZ XaV^bh,

5. Count IV of the Amended Complaint

Count IV of the Complaint claims that the SPH General Partner, the General

JVgicZgwh GVcV\^c\ GZbWZg+ VcY i]Z General Partner =dVgY WgZVX]ZY i]Z^g t[^YjX^Vgn

VcY-dg XdcigVXijVau Yji^Zh Wn8 (/) Vhhjbing the Deferred Fee Liability; (2) paying the

Deferred Fee Liability; and (3) authorizing Lichtenstein and his affiliates to purchase

corporate opportunity units. Before addressing whether demand is excused for any of

101 Id. ¶ 18.

102 Id. ¶ 15.
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these claims, I first consider DiRiecodwh Vg\jbZci i]Vi WZXVjhZ i]ZhZ XaV^bh VgZ Wdi]

direct and derivative in nature, demand was not required, at least with regard to the direct

claims.

a. The Tri-Star and Gentile doctrines

Although the Complaint specifically states that Count IV is a derivative claim, in

briefing and at argument, DiRienzo asserted that some of his claims are both direct and

derivative. In support of this argument, DiRienzo cites the Delaware Supreme Court

cases of In Re Tri-Star Pictures Inc.103 and Gentile v. Rosette.104 Tri-Star and Gentile

both involved similar situations in which a stockholder with majority or effective control

of a corporation consummated a transaction with the entity they controlled. As a result of

the transactions, the controlling stockholders received shares in those corporations that

were substantially more valuable than the consideration that the shareholders had given

the corporations. When minority shareholders sued to challenge the transactions, the

Court held, in each instance, that the minority shareholders had stated a direct, as well as

a derivative claim, because the minority shareholders had suffered a separate and direct

]Vgb ^c i]Vi ti]Z ZcY gZhjai d[ i]^h ineZ d[ igVchVXi^dc ^h Vc ^begdeZg igVch[Zg-or

expropriation-of economic value and voting power from the public shareholders to the

bV_dg^in dg Xdcigdaa^c\ hidX`]daYZg,u105

103 634 A.2d 319 (Del. 1993).

104 906 A.2d 91 (Del. 2006).

105 Id. at 100.
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Tri-Star and Gentile gZegZhZci Vc ZmXZei^dc id i]Z egZb^hZ i]Vi+ tT^Uc i]Z ine^XVa

XdgedgViZ dkZgeVnbZci XVhZ+ V XaV^b V\V^chi i]Z XdgedgVi^dcwh [^YjX^Vg^Zh [dg gZYgZhh ^h

regarded as exclusively derivative, irrespective of whether the currency or form of

dkZgeVnbZci ^h XVh] dg i]Z XdgedgVi^dcwh hidX`,u106 A plaintiff can assert claims that are

both direct and derivative under Tri-Star and Gentile where:

(1) a stockholder having majority or effective control causes
i]Z XdgedgVi^dc id ^hhjZ tZmXZhh^kZu h]VgZh d[ ^ih hidX` ^c
exchange for assets of the controlling stockholder that have a
lesser value; and (2) the exchange causes an increase in the
percentage of the outstanding shares owned by the controlling
stockholder, and a corresponding decrease in the share
percentage owned by the public (minority) shareholders.107

Under Tri-Star and Gentile, the minor^in h]VgZ]daYZghw Y^gZXi XaV^b lVs against the

majority or controlling shVgZ]daYZg, M]^h ^h WZXVjhZ ti]Z ]Vgb id i]Z b^cdg^in

shareholder plaintiffs result[s] from a breach of a fiduciary duty owed to them by the

Xdcigdaa^c\ h]VgZ]daYZg,u108

b. The assumption of the Deferred Fee Liability is a derivative claim only

?^K^Zcodwh XdciZntion that SPH improperly assumed the Deferred Fee Liability is

best described as a corporate overpayment claim. In agreeing to take on a large and

inherently contingent liability, SPH received cash and stock from Offshore that,

according to DiRienzo, inadequately compensated SPH for the risk it was undertaking.

106 Id. at 99.

107 Id. at 100.

108 Id. at 103.
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The actual transfer of the Deferred Fee Liability from Offshore to SPH, in itself, did not

result in the issuance of any SPH Common Units or the dilution of any minority unit

holder. Furthermore, it was not inevitable that the act of assuming the Deferred Fee

Liability would have resulted in the issuance of SPH Common Units and the dilution of

minority unit holders, because the liability could have been satisfied either with cash or

with common units. As the act of accepting the Deferred Fee Liability did not actually or

cZXZhhVg^an gZhjai ^c i]Z Y^aji^dc d[ LJCwh b^cdg^in jc^i ]daYZgh+ ?^K^Zcod ]Vh cdi VaaZ\ZY

a claim that could be characterized as direct under either Tri-Star or Gentile.

Accordingly, his corporate overpayment allegation relating to the assumption of the

Deferred Fee Liability is derivative only.

c. The payment of the Deferred Fee Liability is a derivative claim only

?^K^Zcodwh XaV^b i]Vi LJC VXijVaan eV^Y PBF bdgZ i]Vc ^i h]djaY ]ave is

similarly derivative in nature. By paying WGL far more than it received from Offshore

to assume the Deferred Fee Liability, SPH itself was harmed, and SPH would be the

party entitled to recovery.109 The question then becomes whether LJCwh hVi^h[VXi^on of

the Deferred Fee Liability constituted a corporate overpayment that also could be

classified as a direct claim under the Tri-Star and Gentile framework. As stated, a direct

109 See Tooley v. Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette, Inc., 845 A.2d 1031, 1033 (Del.
2004) (tPZ hZi [dgi] ^c i]^h Ie^c^dc i]Z aVl id WZ Veea^ZY ]ZcXZ[dgi] ^c
determining whether a stockholderws claim is derivative or direct. That issue must
turn solely on the following questions: (1) who suffered the alleged harm (the
corporation or the suing stockholders, individually); and (2) who would receive
the benefit of any recovery or other remedy (the corporation or the stockholders,
^cY^k^YjVaan);u),
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claim under Tri-Star and Gentile is against a majority or controlling shareholder only.

?^K^Zcod ]Vh cdi VaaZ\ZY i]Vi F^X]iZchiZ^c dlcZY V bV_dg^in d[ LJCwh Common Units at

any time before LJCwh eVnbZci d[ i]Z ?Z[ZggZY AZZ F^VW^a^in id PBF, The Complaint

also fails to allege that Lichtenstein and his affiliates constituted a control group.110

Lichtenstein was the Managing Member of the General Partner and the Manager of SPH.

In those capacities, he and his affiliates had control over the day-to-day operations of the

General Partner. Those roles do not establish, however, that Lichtenstein also controlled

the General Partner Board, which consisted of a majority of independent directors

l^i]dji Vcn bViZg^Va [^cVcX^Va ^ciZgZhi ^c LJCwh YZX^h^dc id VbZcY i]Z ?Z[ZggZY AZZ

<\gZZbZci, M]Z tZmegdeg^Vi^dcu i]Vi ?^K^Zcod VaaZ\Zh lVh jai^bately the result of

decisions made by the General Partner Board, not unilateral action taken by Lichtenstein

Vh GVcV\^c\ GZbWZg d[ i]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZg dg Vh i]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZgwh GVcV\Zg, M]Z

Complaint does not contain allegations that support a reasonable inference that

F^X]iZchiZ^c XdcigdaaZY i]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZgwh ^cYZeZcYZci VcY Y^h^ciZgZhiZY WdVgY Vh V

majority unit holder, as member of a control group, or otherwise. The expropriation

principle that serves as the basis for Tri-Star and Gentile claims tdeZgViZh dcan l]Zc

defendant fiduciaries (i) had the ability to use the levers of corporate control to benefit

110
7?? /E H? 3BE? 7OI& )FHG& 7RAFC>?HI 1BJB@&, 2013 WL 771897, at *6 (Del. Ch. Feb.
28, 2013) (finding claims that a control group existed sufficient to survive a
motion for summary judgment where representatives of the entity defendants held
a majority of the outstanding shareholder votes and were majority controllers of
the board); Carsanaro v. Bloodhound Techs., Inc., 65 A.3d 618, 659 (Del. Ch.
2013) (finding claims that a control group existed sufficient to survive a motion to
dismiss where defendants were significant stockholders and controlled the board).
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themselves and (ii) took advantage of the opportunity,u111 I conclude that Lichtenstein

lacked the requisite control over the General Partner Board to establish a direct claim

under Tri-Star and Gentile, and accordingly, hold that ?^K^Zcodwh XaV^bh gZ\VgY^c\ i]Z

payment of the Deferred Fee Liability to WGL are derivative only.

d. The usurpation of a corporate opportunity is a derivative claim only

LiX]iZchiZ^cwh Vji]dg^oVi^dc id ejgX]VhZ XdgedgViZ deedgijc^in jc^ih YdZh cdi \^kZ

rise to claim under Tri-Star and Gentile. The corporate opportunity units that

Lichtenstein was permitted to purchase already were in existence and outstanding,

meaning that F^X]iZchiZ^c Y^Y cdi XVjhZ LJC tid ^hhjZ ZmXZhh^kZ h]VgZh d[ ^ih hidX` ^c

ZmX]Vc\Z [dg VhhZih d[ i]Z Xdcigdaa^c\ hidX`]daYZg,u =ZndcY i]^h iZX]c^XVa Y^hi^cXi^dc ^h

the fact that Tri-Star and Gentile gZfj^gZ i]Z h]dl^c\ d[ tVc ZmigVXi^dc [gdb i]Z ejWa^X

shareholders, and a redistribution to the controlling shareholder, of a portion of the

ZXdcdb^X kVajZ VcY kdi^c\ edlZg ZbWdY^ZY ^c i]Z b^cdg^in ^ciZgZhi,u112 Even assuming

F^X]iZchiZ^cwh ejgX]VhZ d[ XdgedgViZ deedgijc^in jc^ts diminished the minority unit

]daYZgwh kdi^c\ edlZg+ i]Z ZXdcdb^X kVajZ d[ i]Z b^cdg^inwh jc^ih gZbV^cZY jcX]Vc\ZY,

That is, F^X]iZchiZ^cwh ejghj^i d[ XdgedgViZ deedgijc^in jc^ih Y^Y cdi X]Vc\Z i]Z idiVa

number of units outstanding, and ZVX] jc^i bV^ciV^cZY ^ih gZaVi^kZ XaV^b id LJCwh profits

and other distributions. Lichtenstein did nothing to amend or otherwise alter the

ZXdcdb^X Zci^iaZbZci d[ LJCwh >dbbdc Nnits, he simply acquired more of them from

111 Carsanaro v. Bloodhound Techs., Inc., 65 A.3d 618, 658-59 (Del. Ch. 2013).
112 Id. (emphasis added).
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Option B Investors and other SPH Common Unit holders. Having failed to establish that

F^X]iZchiZ^cwh ejghj^i d[ XdgedgViZ deedgijc^in jc^ih gZYjXZY i]Z ZXdcdb^X kVajZ d[ i]Z

b^cdg^inwh jc^ih+ ?^K^Zcod ]Vh VaaZ\ZY dcan V igVY^i^dcVa jhjgeVi^dc d[ XdgedgViZ

opportunity claim, which under settled Delaware law is exclusively derivative in

nature.113

6. Assumption of the Deferred Fee Liability

CVk^c\ YZiZgb^cZY i]Vi ?^K^Zcodwh X]VaaZc\Z id i]Z Vhhjbei^dc d[ i]Z ?Z[ZggZY

Fee Liability is a derivative claim, I consider next l]Zi]Zg ?^K^Zcodwh [V^ajgZ id bV`Z

demand on the General Partner Board is excused as being futile. According to the

Complaint, SPH undertook the Deferred Fee Liability pursuant to an Assignment and

Assumption Agreement executed on November 23, 2009.114 Lichtenstein, not the

General Partner Board, caused SPH to enter into the agreement, and the Complaint does

cdi VaaZ\Z i]Vi i]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZg =dVgY ]VY Vcn gdaZ ^c LJCwh Vhhjbei^dc d[ i]Z

Deferred Fee Liability.

Defendants argue that the appropriate standard for determining whether DiRienzo

was excused from making demand is the test articulated by the Delaware Supreme Court

in Rales v. Blasband.115 The Supreme Court has instructed that:

113 See /E H? *B@?N /E=& 7RAFC>?HI 1BJB@&, 789 A,0Y //54+ //67 (?Za, >], 0...) (t<
claim that a director or officer improperly usurped a corporate opportunity
WZadc\^c\ id i]Z XdgedgVi^dc ^h V YZg^kVi^kZ XaV^bu),

114 Am. Compl. ¶ 157.

115 634 A.2d 927 (Del. 1993).
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Demand futility under Rule 23.1 must be determined pursuant to
either the standards articulated in Aronson v. Lewis or those set forth
in Rales v. Blasband. . . . In Rales v. Blasband, this Court identified
three circumstances in which the Aronson standard will not be
Veea^ZY8 t(/) l]ZgZ V Wjh^cZhh YZX^h^dc lVh bVYZ Wn i]Z WdVgY d[ V
company, but a majority of the directors making the decision has
been replaced; (2) where the subject of the derivative suit is not a
business decision of the board; and (3) where ... the decision being
X]VaaZc\ZY lVh bVYZ Wn i]Z WdVgY d[ V Y^[[ZgZci XdgedgVi^dc,u116

LJCwh Vhhjbei^dc d[ i]Z ?Z[ZggZY AZZ F^VW^a^in lVh cdi V Wusiness decision of the

General Partner Board. Accordingly, demand futility in this instance must be assessed

under Rales.

a. The Rales standard

When a derivative complaint is evaluated under the Rales iZhi+ tYZbVcY ^h ZmXjhZY

only where particularized factual allegations create a reasonable doubt that, as of the time

the complaint was filed, the board of directors could have properly exercised its

^cYZeZcYZci VcY Y^h^ciZgZhiZY Wjh^cZhh _jY\bZci ^c gZhedcY^c\ id V YZbVcY,u117 A board

exercises its independent and disinterested business judgment in responding to a demand

l]Zc ^i YdZh hd t[gZZ d[ eZghdcVa [^cVcX^Va ^ciZgZhi VcY ^begdeZg ZmigVcZdjh

^c[ajZcXZh,u118 Extraneous influences that can raise a reasonable doubt as to whether a

116 Braddock v. Zimmerman, 906 A.2d 776, 784-85 (Del. 2006) (citations omitted).

117 Id. at 785.

118 Rales, 634 A.2d at 935.
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director exercised their independent business judgment include domination by a

controlling shareholder119 and a substantial risk of personal liability.120

b. Demand is not excused

Under Rales, the relevant board for analyzing demand futility is the board that was

in place when the complaint was filed.121 DiRienzo filed his Complaint on January 18,

2013. At that time, the General Partner Board consisted of seven members: Bergamo,

Howard, Lichtenstein, McNiff, Mullen, Neal, and Tessler. Neither party disputes that

Lichtenstein and Howard lack independence; thus, I focus my inquiry on the five

remaining directors, namely, Bergamo, McNiff, Mullen, Neal, and Tessler. For the

reasons that follow, I conclude that DiRienzo has failed to plead particularized

allegations that raise a reasonable doubt that the General Partner Board could have

properly exercised its independent and disinterested business judgment in responding to a

demand.

1. The board is free of any personal financial interest in the assumption of the
Deferred Fee Liability

The Complaint does not contain a single allegation that the Independent Directors

]VY V [^cVcX^Va ^ciZgZhi ^c LJCwh Vhhjbei^dc d[ i]Z ?Z[ZggZY AZZ F^VW^a^in, Likewise,

there is no suggestion that the Independent Directors had any interest, let alone a material

interest, in WGL. Thus, there are no allegations that they stood on both sides of the

119 Aronson v. Lewis, 473 A.2d 805, 816 (Del. 1984).

120 Rales, 634 A.2d at 936.

121 Braddock, 906 A.2d at 786.
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transaction and were engaged in self-dealing. If anything, as unit holders in SPH, it

would be in the Independent D^gZXidgwh personal financial interest to challenge the

val^Y^in d[ LJCwh Vhhjbei^dc d[ V aVg\Z+ Xdci^c\Zci a^VW^a^in, DiRienzo, therefore, has not

pled particularized facts that the Independent D^gZXidgh ]VY V [^cVcX^Va ^ciZgZhi ^c LJCwh

assumption of the Deferred Fee Liability that compromised their ability to evaluate a

demand with independent and disinterested business judgment.

2. The board is not otherwise interested or controlled by Lichtenstein

DiRienzo avers that Lichtenstein controls the Independent Directors and that, as

such, the Independent Directors are not capable of exercising independent and

disinterested business judgment involving any action taken by Lichtenstein. A plaintiff

VaaZ\^c\ i]Vi Y^gZXidgh VgZ XdcigdaaZY Wn Vcdi]Zg tbjhi VaaZ\Z eVgi^XjaVg^oZY [VXih

manifesting a direction of corporate conduct in such a way as to comport with the wishes

dg ^ciZgZhih d[ i]Z XdgedgVi^dc (dg eZghdch) Yd^c\ i]Z Xdcigdaa^c\,u122 In addition, a

plaintiff must allege that ti]Z Y^gZXidgh VgZ vWZ]daYZcw id Ti]Z Xdcigdaa^c\ eZghdcU dg hd

under their influecXZ i]Vi i]Z^g Y^hXgZi^dc ldjaY WZ hiZg^a^oZY,u123

The Complaint lacks particularized allegations that the Independent Directors

were beholden to Lichtenstein. The facts that Lichtenstein actively was involved with the

General Partner and that he was responsible for originally appointing each of the

Independent Directors does not establish, under Delaware Law, that the Independent

122 Orman v. Cullman, 794 A.2d 5, 24 (Del. Ch. 2002).

123 Id. (quoting Rales v. Blasband, 634 A.2d 927, 936 (Del. 1993)).
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Directors are beholden to him.124 Furthermore, even assuming that from the time of their

instatement the Independent Directors have acted in a manner that comports with

F^X]iZchiZ^cwh l^h]Zh VcY ^cterests, DiRienzo has not alleged particular facts that raise a

reasonable inference that the Independent Directors are beholden to Lichtenstein.

Broadly stated, DiRienzo alleges that some of the Independent Directors had served with

Lichtenstein on other boards or had known Lichtenstein prior to their tenure on the

General Partner Board. Of equal importance to what DiRienzo alleges about the

Independent Directors, however, is what he does not allege. The Complaint does not

have a single particularized allegation that indicates any of the Independent Directors had

a material financial or personal relationship with either SPH or Lichtenstein. For these

reasons, and the reasons I previously discussed in analyzing the Independent Directors,

DiRienzo has failed to allege particularized facts that create a reasonable doubt as to the

Independent Directorsw independence from Lichtenstein.

124 See Beam ex rel. Martha Stewart Living Omnimedia, Inc. v. Stewart, 845 A.2d
1040, 1054 (Del. 2004) (holding that where controlling stockholder owned 94% of
i]Z XdbeVcn i]Vi+ tTVU hidX`]daYZg'h Xdctrol of a corporation does not excuse pre-
suit demand on the board without particularized allegations of relationships
between the directors and the controlling stockholder demonstrating that the
Y^gZXidgh VgZ WZ]daYZc id i]Z hidX`]daYZg,u)9 Stroud v. Milliken Enters., Inc., 585
A.2d 1306, 1307 (Del. Ch. 1988) (stating that control of a corporation by a
majority stockholder who nominates or elects the directors is not sufficient to raise
a reVhdcVWaZ YdjWi VWdji V Y^gZXidgws independence; rather, the nature of the
relationships between them must demonstrate that the director is beholden to the
stockholder).
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3. The General Partner Board does not face a substantial likelihood of personal
liability

A plaintiff is entitled to a reasonable inference of interestedness where a complaint

indicates that a substantial likelihood of liability will be found.125 It is, difficult,

however, to meet this standard.126 Ajgi]ZgbdgZ+ t[w]here directors are contractually or

otherwise exculpated from liability for certain conduct, then a serious threat of liability

may only be found to exist if the plaintiff pleads a non-exculpated claim against the

directors based on particularized facts,u127

As discussed in Section II.D.3.a, supra, the General Partner and the General

Partner Board are exculpated contractually for acts taken to effectuate the Merger and

Exchange Agreements. Section 5.3(a) of the Amended and Restated Exchange

Agreement required I[[h]dgZ id igVch[Zg tVcn YZ[ZggZY [ZZh i]Vi VgZ dlZY id Vcn Zci^in Wn

i]Z I[[L]dgZ AZZYZg (i]Z t?Z[ZggZY AZZhu) id LiZZa JVgicZgh CdaY^c\hu ^[ i]ZgZ lVh cdi V

tXdbeaZiZ jcl^cYu d[ i]Z Exchange.128 Because the Exchange was never completely

unwound, under the express terms of the Exchange Agreement, Offshore was required to

125
/E H? /3,487'% /E=& 7RAFC>?HI 1BJB@&, 953 A.2d 963, 990 (Del. Ch. 2007).

126 Id. See also Seminaris v. Landa, 662 A.2d 1350, 1354 (Del. Ch. 1995) (describing
i]Z tgVgZ XVhZ+ Zck^h^dcZY Wn i]Z LjegZbZ >djgi ^c Aronson, l]ZgZ YZ[ZcYVcihw
VXi^dch lZgZ hd Z\gZ\^djh i]Vi V hjWhiVci^Va a^`Za^]ddY d[ Y^gZXidg a^VW^a^in Zm^hihu),

127 Wood v. Baum, 953 A.2d 136, 141 (Del. 2008) (internal quotations omitted).

128 ?Z[h,w Ie, =g, @m, 1+ p 3,1,
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transfer its deferred fee obligations to SPH, and SPH was required to accept them.129 The

Assignment and Assumption Agreement lVh tgZaViZY id+u VcY Vc ^ciZ\gVa eVgi d[ LJCwh

performance of, the Exchange Agreement. Accordingly, LJCwh VXXZeiVcXZ d[ the

Assignment and Assumption Agreement falls within the exculpatory provisions set forth

in Sections 7.1(c) and 7.9(a) of the LPA. Because acceptance of such an agreement is

exculpated explicitly by the LPA, DiRienzo has failed to allege that the General Partner

Board faced a substantial likelihood of personal liability based on their actions related to

the Assignment and Assumption Agreement. Thus, DiRienzo has failed to create a

reasonable doubt that the General Partner Board could not have considered a demand

request using its independent and disinterested business judgment. I will dismiss

?^K^Zcodwh YZg^kVi^kZ XaV^b eZgiV^c^c\ id LJCwh VXXZeiVcXZ d[ i]Z <hh^\cbZci VcY

Assumption Agreement, therefore, for failure to make demand.

7. Payment of the Deferred Fee Liability

As previously discussed, ?^K^Zcodwh XaV^b gZaVi^c\ id i]Z eVnbZci d[ i]Z ?Z[ZggZY

Fee Liability is also derivative only.

The Complaint states that growth in the Deferred Fee Liability can be attributed to,

at least in large part, amendments that the General Partner Board made to the Deferred

129 Accordingly, had the General Partner Board not allowed SPH to enter the
Assignment and Assumption Agreement, it potentially would have exposed SPH
to liability for breach of contract.
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Fee Agreement.130 M]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZg =dVgYwh YZX^h^dch id bdY^[n i]Z ?Z[ZggZY AZZ

Agreement do not fall within one of the three situations where Rales applies; therefore, I

must assess demand futility in this instance under the framework established in Aronson

v. Lewis.

a. The Aronson standard

For a derivative plaintiff to establish demand futility under Aronson, that plaintiff

must plead particularized facts that create a reasonable doubt that: (1) the directors are

disinterested and independent or (2) the challenged transaction was otherwise the product

of a valid exercise of business judgment.131 The first prong of Aronson is, for all intents

and purposes identical, to the Rales standard. As to the second prong of Aronson,

plaintiffs must plead particularized facts sufficient to raise: (1) a reason to doubt that the

action was taken honestly and in good faith or (2) a reason to doubt that the board was

adequately informed in making the decision.132 As the General Partner Board has

remained essentially unchanged since it was established in 2009, for purposes of

evaluating demand futility under Aronson, I will continue to focus on the five

Independent Directors.

130 <b, >dbea, q /51 (t=ZXVjhZ i]Z ?Z[Zgred Fee Liability was indexed to the value
of SPH, this allowed the $47 million liability at 07/15/2009 to grow to $70.5
b^aa^dc Wn .1-1/-0./0u),

131 Aronson v. Lewis, 473 A.2d 805, 814 (Del. 1984); see also Brehm v. Eisner, 746
<,0Y 022+ 034 (?Za, 0...) (tThese [Aronson] prongs are in the disjunctive.
M]ZgZ[dgZ+ ^[ Z^i]Zg egdc\ ^h hVi^h[^ZY+ YZbVcY ^h ZmXjhZY,u)

132 In re Walt Disney Co. Deriv. Litig., 825 A.2d 275, 286 (Del. Ch. 2003).
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b. DiRienzo has not satisfied the first Aronson prong

For the reasons stated in Sections II.D.6.b.3-7, supra, DiRienzo has failed to allege

particularized facts that call into question the independence of the Independent Directors.

Furthermore, the Complaint does not allege that any of the Independent Directors had a

personal financial interest in amending the Deferred Fee Agreement. Thus, for DiRienzo

to satisfy the first prong of Aronson, he must allege that the General Partner Board faced

a substantial likelihood of personal liability for their decision to amend the Deferred Fee

Agreement.

As previously discussed, the LPA exculpates the General Partner from a wide

range of conduct related to the Merger and its implementation. It is reasonably

conceivable, however, i]Vi i]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZg =dVgYwh YZX^h^dc id VbZcY i]Z ?Z[ZggZY

AZZ <\gZZbZci lVh cdi tgZaViZY idu i]Z GZg\Zg dg i]Z @mX]Vc\Z <\gZZbZci, Under the

GZg\Zg VcY i]Z @mX]Vc\Z+ LJCwh dWa^\Vi^dch ZcYZY Vi i]Z Vhhjbei^dc d[ ihe Deferred Fee

Agreement. Any subsequent amendments to the agreement had no bearing on the terms

of the Merger and the Exchange. Because that decision may not fall within Sections

7.1(c) or 7.9(a) of the LPA, I must consider how the LPA defines the General Partner

=dVgYwh Yji^Zh id i]Z a^b^iZY eVgicZgh and the extent to which the actions of board

members may be exculpated. As discussed, under Section 7.8 of the LPA, the General

Partner Board is only liable to limited partners if the board acts in bad faith or engages in

fraud, willful misconduct or gross negligence.133 For the reasons I now discuss,

133 The Complaint does not allege that any of the Defendants engaged in fraud.
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DiRienzo has failed to allege facts that make it reasonably conceivable that the conduct

of the Independent Directors challenged in the Complaint would not be exculpated.

c. Gross negligence

NcYZg i]Z aVl d[ Zci^i^Zh ^c ?ZaVlVgZ+ tT^Uc dgYZg id egZkV^a dc V XaV^b d[ \gdhh

negligence, a plaintiff must plead and prove that the defendant was recklessly uninformed

dg VXiZY djih^YZ i]Z WdjcYh d[ gZVhdc,u134 DiRienzo has failed to make such allegations

against the Independent Directors regarding the amendments of the Deferred Fee

Agreement. The Complaint does not allege that the Independent Directors were

uninformed, let alone recklessly so, in deciding whether to agree to alter the terms of the

Deferred Fee Agreement. There is not a single allegation pertaining to the process, or

potential lack thereof, the General Partner Board utilized in addressing matters related to

the Deferred Fee Agreement on or after October 1, 2009. Thus, the Complaint does not

support a reasonable inference that the allegations that the General Partner Board was

recklessly uninformed when it amended or terminated the Deferred Fee Agreement

indicate that a substantial likelihood of liability will be found.

In addition, DiRienzo has failed to allege facts that would support a reasonable

inference that he would succeed in proving i]Vi i]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZg =dVgYwh VXi^dch were

outside the bounds of reason. Many of the amendments to the Deferred Fee Agreement

benefitted Lichtenstein and WGL, but those amendments provided benefits to SPH as

134 Metro. Life Ins. Co. v. Tremont Gp. Hldgs., Inc., 2012 WL 6632681, at *7 (Del.
Ch. Dec. 20, 2012) (internal quotations omitted).
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well. For example, the decision to give WGL a 15% tY^hXdjciu if it elected to be paid in

SPH Common Units instead of in cash helped SPH preserve liquidity. That is a

reasonable action for a company to take, and particularly reasonable for a company that

was created as a result of a liquidity crisis. I similarly conclude that it was not outside the

bounds of reason for SPH to allow WGL to index the deferred fee to the value of SPH

and the cash distributions SPH made to its limited partners.135 WGL provided services to

SPH from 2009 until April 2012. Indexing the value of the Deferred Fee Liability to the

value of SPH reasonably could be viewed as a means to incentivize WGL to help SPH

reach as high a value as possible.136 Even if I assume that t]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZg =dVgYwh

decisions regarding the Deferred Fee Agreement were bad for SPH, those decisions

would be grossly negligent under Delaware Law only if they were recklessly uninformed

or outside the bounds of reason. DiRienzo has not alleged sufficient facts to satisfy either

of those criteria or to enable this court to reach that conclusion, and thus, I reject his

argument that the General Partner Board faced a substantial likelihood of liability for

having been grossly negligent in its decisions pertaining to the Deferred Fee Agreement.

135 The Deferred Fee Liability appears to have been indexed to the value of Offshore
when the Deferred Fee Agreement was between WGL and Offshore. Am. Compl.
¶ 148.

136 The Amended Complaint alleges that WGL was compensated retroactively for
distributions made to limited partners in April 2010 and April 2011. Am. Compl.
¶ 167. There are, however, no allegations that WGL was not entitled to any such
compensation or that SPH did not receive any consideration in exchange for
agreeing to the retroactive compensation. Thus, DiRienzo has not alleged
particularized facts indicating that such retroactive compensation was outside the
bounds of reason.
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d. Bad faith and willful misconduct

A fiduciaryws conduct is in bad faith if the fiduciary acted with a purpose other

than advancing shareholder interests (i.e., the best interests of the corporation),

intentionally violated relevant positive law, intentionally failed to respond to a known

duty, or exhibited a conscious disregard of a known duty.137 To overcome the

presumption that a fiduciary acted in good faith and state a claim for bad faith conducted

by a fiduciary, a plaintiff may h]dl i]Vi ti]Z [^YjX^Vgnwh VXi^dch lZgZ hd [Vg WZndcY i]Z

bounds of reasonable judgment that it seems essentially inexplicable on any ground other

thVc WVY [V^i],u138

DiRienzo has failed to allege particularized facts regarding the Independent

Directors that evidences either bad faith or willful misconduct. The Amended Complaint

does not allege facts supporting a reasonable inference that the Independent Directors

acted with the purpose of benefitting Lichtenstein at the expense of the minority, nor does

the Complaint provide a reasonable basis for believing that independent and disinterested

directors consciously disregarded their obligations to the limited partners. The increase

in the size of the Deferred Fee Liability is troubling. DiRienzo essentially has alleged

that the General Partner Board made a questionable business decision in how it handled

the Deferred Fee Agreement, but the amendments to the Deferred Fee Agreement were

137 Stone v. Ritter, 911 A.2d 362, 369 (Del. 2006) (quoting In re Walt Disney Co. Deriv.
Litig., 906 A.2d 27, 67 (Del. 2006)).

138
/E H? 3FL?CC% /E=& 7Rholder Litig., 2013 WL 322560, at *10 (Del. Ch. Jan. 3, 2013)
(quoting In re Alloy, Inc., 2011 WL 4863716, at *12 (Del. Ch. Oct. 13, 2011)).
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approved by independent and disinterested directors who, as previously discussed,

conceivably had a reasonable basis for many of the changes. In any event, bad business

decisions do not constitute bad faith or willful misconduct. DiRienzo has not alleged

facts to support a reasonable inference that the Independent Directors faced a substantial

likelihood of personal liability for committing willful misconduct or acting in bad faith

with regard to the Deferred Fee Agreement. Accordingly, DiRienzo has not satisfied the

first prong of the Aronson test.

e. DiRienzo has not satisfied the second Aronson prong

When directors are disinterested and independent under the first prong of Aronson,

V eaV^ci^[[ ]Vh V t]ZVkn WjgYZcu id ZhiVblish that the second prong has been satisfied.139

M]^h t]ZVkn WjgYZcu XVc WZ XVgg^ZY ^[ i]ZgZ VgZ eVgi^XjaVg^oZY VaaZ\Vi^dch i]Vi hjeedgi V

eaV^ci^[[wh XdciZci^dch i]Vi i]Z Y^gZXidgh VXiZY ^c WVY [V^i] dg lZgZ \gdhhan cZ\a^\Zci,140

As discussed in the analysis of the first Aronson prong, the General Partner Board

was comprised of a majority of independent and disinterested directors. In addition, I

also concluded that the allegations in the Complaint did not support a claim of gross

negligence or bad faith against the Independent Directors or the General Partner Board.

M]ZgZ[dgZ+ ?^K^Zcod ^h jcVWaZ id XVggn ]^h t]ZVkn WjgYZcu VcY has not satisfied the

second Aronson prong by demonstrating the amendments to the Deferred Fee Agreement

were not the product of a valid exercise of business judgment. Because DiRienzo has not

139 White v. Panic, 783 A.2d 543, 551 (Del. 2001).

140 Brehm v. Eisner, 746 A.2d 244, 259 (Del. 2000).
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satisfied either of the Aronson prongs, demand is not excused, and his derivative claim

pertaining to the modification and payment of the Deferred Fee Liability is dismissed.

8. Usurpation of corporate opportunity

?^K^Zcodwh YZg^kVi^kZ XaV^b [dg jhjgeVi^dc d[ V XdgedgViZ deedgijc^in Vg^hZh [gdb

i]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZg =dVgYwh YZX^h^dc ^c AZWgjVgn 0./. id Vaadl F^X]iZchiZ^c V[[^a^ViZ

Steel Partners FiY id ejghjZ tVcn XdgedgViZ deedgijc^in l^i] gZheZXi to the acquisition of

>dbbdc Nc^ih,u141 As DiRienzo is challenging a business decision by the General

Partner Board, Aronson applies.

Again, DiRienzo has failed to satisfy either prong of the Aronson test, and

accordingly, demand is not excused. The Generaa JVgicZg =dVgYwh YZX^h^dc id \gVci i]Z

corporate opportunity to Steel Partners Ltd was approved by the Independent Directors.

For the reasons already discussed, the Complaint does not contain allegations sufficient

to raise a reasonable inference that the Independent Directors were beholden to

Lichtenstein. Furthermore, there are no allegations that any of the Independent Directors

had a personal financial interest in allowing Steel Partners Ltd to purchase available SPH

Common Units.

DiRienzo also has not alleged sufficient facts to create a reasonable inference that

i]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZg =dVgYwh YZX^h^dc id \gVci LiZZa JVgicZgh FiY eZgb^hh^dc id ejghjZ i]^h

corporate opportunity was in bad faith or grossly negligent. According to the Complaint,

the General Partner Boardwh gVi^dcVaZ for authorizing Steel Partners Ltd to pursue the

141 Am. Compl. ¶ 161.
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corporate opportunity was that it tYZiZgb^cZY i]Vi ^i ^h ^c i]Z WZhi ^ciZgZhi d[ i]Z >dbeVcn

id gZiV^c [jcYh id ^ckZhi ^c i]Z deZgVi^dch d[ i]Z >dbeVcn,u142 This rationale hardly

demonstrates either gross negligence or bad faith, and DiRienzo has not alleged

hj[[^X^Zcian i]Vi i]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZg =dVgYwh hiViZY gVi^dcVaZ lVh V egZiZmi [dg di]Zgl^hZ

improper conduct. There are no allegations that the General Partner Board failed to

inform itself about the corporate opportunity, nor are there allegations that the

Partnership was even capable of pursing the corporate opportunity itself. The fact that

Lichtenstein eventually received distributions on the corporate opportunity SPH common

jc^ih YdZh cdi WdahiZg ?^K^Zcodwh XaV^b, Because the Complaint does not allege that

Lichtenstein received anything other than a pro rata share of Partnership distributions on

his corporate opportunity units, the Complaint does not allege anything improper about

F^X]iZchiZ^cwh gZXZ^ei d[ Y^hig^Wji^dch,

In sum, DiRienzo has not raised a reasonable doubt that the Independent Directors

who authorized Steel Partners Ltd to pursue corporate opportunity units were

disinterested and independent or that the authorization was anything other than the

product of a valid exercise of business judgment. Having failed to establish futility of

demand under Aronson+ ?^K^Zcodwh YZg^kVi^kZ XaV^b eZgiV^c^c\ id i]Z jhjgeVi^dc d[ V

corporate opportunity is dismissed.

142 Id.
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E. Count V of the Amended Complaint

DiRienzo argues that by issuing SPH Common Units to Option B Investors, the

BZcZgVa JVgicZg+ F^X]iZchiZ^c+ VcY i]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZg =dVgY WgZVX]ZY i]Z^g t[^YjX^Vgn

VcY-dg XdcigVXijVau Yji^Zh, I first address whether this claim is derivative or direct.

1. Count V is Derivative

Count V of the Complaint claims that as a result of the issuance of SPH common

units to Option B Investors, the NAV of assets contributed to SPH in the Partial Unwind

was overvalued and that the non-Option B Investors were unfairly diluted. tEquity

dilution claims are typically viewed as derivative under Delaware law.u143 The exception

to this general rule is the previously discussed Tri-Star and Gentile line of cases that are

tegZY^XViZY dc i]Z ^Yea that [dilutive] transactions of th[e] type [at issue in those cases]

result in an improper transfer of both economic value and voting power from the minority

id i]Z Xdcigdaa^c\ hidX`]daYZg,u144

The issuance of SPH common units to Option B Investors does not fall within the

Tri-Star and Gentile exception to the general rule that equity dilution claims are solely

derivative. There is no allegation that the Option B Investors included Lichtenstein, the

General Partner, or the General Partner Board. Consequently, even assuming some or all

of these parties were controlling shareholders, there was no transfer of economic or

voting power from the minority to them as a result of issuing SPH Common Units to

143 Feldman v. Cutaia, 956 A.2d 644, 655 (Del. Ch. 2007).

144 Id. at 657.
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Option B investors. In fact, to the extent that Lichtenstein and the General Partner

directors held common units, they were diluted to the exact same extent as any other

Option A holder. The Partial Unwind did not transfer economic and voting power from

the minority to a controlling shareholder. Rather, the Partial Unwind transferred

economic and voting power from all common unit holders, equally, to Option B

Investors. Count V, therefore, states a traditional equity dilution claim and does not fall

within the Tri-Star and Gentile exceptions. Accordingly, Count V is solely a derivative

claim.

2. Count V should be assessed under Rales

The issuance of SPH common units to Option B Investors was not the result of

any action taken by the General Partner Board. As Count V does not challenge a

business decision made by the General Partner Board, Rales is the appropriate standard to

assess demand futility.

a. Demand is not excused under Rales

The Complaint does not contain particularized allegations that any of the

Independent Directors had a personal financial interest in the issuance of SPH common

units to Option B Investors. As previously noted, if anything, it appears that issuing

Xdbbdc jc^ih id Iei^dc = ^ckZhidgh lVh V\V^chi i]Z DcYZeZcYZci ?^gZXidghw VcY

F^X]iZchiZ^cwh [^cVcX^Va ^ciZgZhih WZXVjhZ d[ ^ih Y^aji^kZ Zffect. Based on the previously

established independence of a majority of the General Partner Board and the absence of

allegations supporting an inference that the Independent Directors had a financial interest
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in issuing common units to Option B Investors, DiRienzo would have to plead that the

Independent Directors face a substantial likelihood of liability for demand to be excused.

Because the issuance of SPH common units to Option B investors is conduct that is

exculpated under the LPA, DiRienzo has failed to meet his burden in that regard.

Option B Investors were issued SPH common units pursuant to the Partial

Unwind. Section 5.2 of the Amended and Restated Exchange Agreement specifically

contemplated the Partial Unwind.145 As discussed, Sections 7.1(c) and 7.9(a) of the LPA

essentially exculpate the General Partner for any action it took or might take to effectuate

the Merger or the Exchange. The issuance of SPH Common Units to Option B Investors

to facilitate the Partial Unwind falls within the exculpatory language of Sections 7.1(c)

and 7.9(a). As a result, DiRienzo has not asserted claims that create a substantial

likelihood of liability for the General Partner Board. DiRienzo, therefore, has failed to

demonstrate futility of demand under Rales. Accordingly, Count V of the Complaint is

dismissed in its entirety for failure to make demand.

F. Count VI of the Amended Complaint

Count VI of the Amended Complaint alleges that the General Partner breached its

express and implied contractual duties by: (1) acting without General Partner Board

oversight from January 1, 2009 to October 2009 in violation of the LPA; (2) causing the

JVgi^Va Ncl^cY VcY Y^hig^Wji^c\ 40,3% d[ i]Z JVgicZgh]^ewh H<O id Iei^dc = DckZhidgh ^c

violation of Section 7.3 of the LPA; (3) ratifying the Partial Unwind based solely on SP

145 ?Z[h,w Ie, =g, @m, 3+ p 5.2.
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DDwh ^ciZgcVa bVcV\ZbZci kVajVi^dch9 (2) XVjh^c\ LJC id VhhjbZ+ VcY Vji]dg^o^c\ i]Z

payment of, the Deferred Fee Liability; and (5) issuing SPH common units to Option B

Investors.

1. Express breaches146

a. Demand is ABF 9I7GE98 ;BD F=9 7?5>@ D9<5D8>A< F=9 /9A9D5? 15DFA9DJE

unsupervised actions

DiRienzo contends that the General Partner violated the terms of the LPA by

acting without Board oversight from January 2009 to October 2009. Neither the

Complaint itself nor D^K^Zcodwh Wg^Z[^c\ heZX^[n l]Vi hZXi^dc dg hZXi^dch d[ i]Z FJ< i]^h

conduct allegedly violates. As DiRienzo is not challenging a business decision of the

Board during this time period, demand futility is assessed under Rales.

Because there are no allegations that the Independent Directors acquired a unique,

personal financial benefit from the General ParicZgwh VXi^dch WZilZZc EVcjVgn 2009 and

October 2009, the issue of whether demand is excused turns, again, on the likelihood that

the Independent Directors are subject to a substantial likelihood of personal liability for

i]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZgwh VXi^dch iV`Zc Yjg^c\ i]Vi i^bZ eZg^dY, ?^K^Zcod Vg\jZh i]Vi

although the General Partner did not have directors until October 2009, the Independent

Directors still face such a risk of liability because they acquiesced in or ratified the

BZcZgVa JVgicZgwh VXi^dch Yjg^c\ i]^h period via an October 1, 2009 written consent.

146 The claims for breach of contract regarding the assumption and payment of the
Deferred Fee Liability and the issuance of SPH Common Units were addressed in
Counts IV and V. For the reasons explained in Sections II.D and II.E, supra, these
claims are dismissed.
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It does not appear, however, that the General Partner violated any provisions of

the LPA by acting without Board oversight from January 1, 2009 to October 2009. The

original LPA states that limited partners will elect directors beginning in 2010,147 but is

silent as to how directors were to be selected before that. Furthermore, none of the

actions taken by the General Partner from January 1, 2009 to October 2009 required

mandatory Board approval under the LPA. Accordingly, DiRienzo has articulated no

theory under which the fact that the General Partner operated for a period of time without

Board oversight would give rise to a per se breach of the LPA.

DiRienzo also has not alleged facts that would support a reasonable inference that

i]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZgwh VXi^dch Yjg^c\ i]^h i^bZ+ gZ\VgYaZhh d[ i]Z egZhZcXZ d[ =dVgY

oversight, violated the LPA. Aaa i]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZgwh XdcYjXi Yjg^c\ i]Z eZg^dY ^c

question was directed at effectuating the Merger and Exchange Agreements. This

conduct was exculpated by Sections 7.1(c) and 7.9(a) of the LPA.

There is, therefore, no credible basis for the contention that the Independent

?^gZXidgh [VXZY V hjWhiVci^Va a^`Za^]ddY d[ eZghdcVa a^VW^a^in [dg i]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZgwh

conduct between January 1, 2009 and October 2009. As the General Partner did not

breach the LPA, the Independent Directors cannot be liable for acquiescing to or ratifying

i]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZgwh challenged conduct. Because DiRienzo has not shown that demand

147 Special Comm. ?Z[h,w Ie, =g, @m, =+ p 13.4(c)(i).
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for this claim would be excused under Rales, the claim is dismissed for failure to make

demand.

b. The General Partner did not breach Section 7.3 of the LPA

KZ\VgYaZhh d[ l]Zi]Zg ?^K^Zcodwh XaV^b V\V^chi i]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZg [dg WgZVX]^c\

Section 7.3 of the LPA is direct or derivative, it fails because there is no underlying

WgZVX], LZXi^dc 5,1 hiViZh+ tTZUmXZei Vh egdk^YZY ^c <gi^XaZh QDD VcY QDO, the General

JVgicZg bVn cdi , , , Y^hedhZ d[ Vaa dg Vcn hjWhiVci^Va eVgi d[ i]Z JVgicZgh]^e Bgdjewh

VhhZih , , , l^i]dji LeZX^Va FJ <eegdkVa,u148 M]Z FJ< YZ[^cZh tLeZX^Va FJ <eegdkVau Vh

tVeegdkVa Wn i]Z kdiZ d[ i]Z ]daYZgh d[ V bV_dg^in d[ i]Z kdi^c\ edler of Outstanding

Voting Units (excluding Voting Units owned by the Partnership, the General Partner and

JZghdch i]Zn Xdcigda),u149 @kZc Vhhjb^c\ i]Z JVgi^Va Ncl^cY ^ckdakZY tVaa dg Vcn

hjWhiVci^Va eVgiu d[ LJCwh VhhZih+ LZXi^dc 5,1 ^h Zmea^X^ian hjW_ZXi id Article XIV of the

FJ<, LZXi^dc /2,1(Y) hiViZh+ tHdil^i]hiVcY^c\ Vcni]^c\ ZahZ XdciV^cZY ^c i]^h <gi^XaZ

XIV or in this Agreement, the General Partner is permitted, without Limited Partner

approval, to (i) effect the Merger, the Exchange and all transactions contemplated by the

Exchange A\gZZbZci,u150 The Partial Unwind is expressly contemplated by Section 5.2

of the Amended and Restated Exchange Agreement; therefore, under Section 14.3(d), the

General Partner was authorized to execute it without limited partner approval.

148 ?Z[h,w Ie, =g, @m, /+ p 7.3.

149 Id. at 9.

150 Id. § 14.3.
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<XXdgY^c\an+ ?^K^Zcodwh breach of contract claim predicated on a breach of Section 7.3

of the LPA is dismissed.

c. -9@5A8 >E ABF 9I7GE98 ;BD F=9 7?5>@ D9<5D8>A< F=9 /9A9D5? 15DFA9D +B5D8JE

failure to stop the Partial Unwind

DiRienzo alleges that the General Partner Board breached the LPA by failing to

prevent the Partial Unwind. DiRienzo bases his claim on the notion that such a failure

constituted either gross negligence or bad faith.

There are no allegations in the Complaint that the General Partner Board expressly

gVi^[^ZY i]Z JVgi^Va Ncl^cY, M]ZgZ[dgZ+ Vcn tgVi^[^XVi^dcu i]Vi dXXjggZY lVh V gZhjai d[ i]Z

BZcZgVa JVgicZg =dVgYwh [V^ajgZ id VXi+ VcY cdi V XdchZfjZcXZ d[ V Wjh^cZhh YZX^h^dc i]Vi

the board made. In these situations, Rales is the appropriate test for assessing demand

futility.

Under the facts of this case, the only relevant question under Rales is whether the

General Partner Board faces a substantial likelihood of liability for having acted with

gross negligence or in bad faith. As to this claim, the issue is whether the General

Partner Board faces a substantial likelihood of liability for failing to prohibit the Partial

Unwind. I conclude that the Complaint does not allege sufficient particularized facts to

indicate that such a substantial likelihood exists.

<h Y^hXjhhZY+ i]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZgwh ZmZXji^dc d[ i]Z JVgi^Va Unwind was

expressly permitted and broadly exculpated by the LPA. The fact that the General

JVgicZgwh VXi^dch lZgZ ZmegZhhan eZgb^iiZY jcYZg i]Z iZgbh d[ ihe LPA does not make the

BZcZgVa JVgicZg =dVgYwh [V^ajgZ id Zc_d^c i]Vi VXi^dc per se reasonable or in good faith,
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but it does support at least an inference that the General Partner Board did not act

improperly. That inference is particularly reasonable in this case where the Partial

Unwind was one of the foundational transactions associated with the establishment of

SPH. Had the General Partner Board elected to prevent the Partial Unwind, the

consequences for SPH could have been dramatic. In these circumstances, even assuming

the Partial Unwind was flawed, that would not indicate a substantial likelihood that the

General Partner Board was grossly negligent or acted in bad faith by failing to stop the

Partial Unwind, especially where, as here, there are no allegations that, had the Board

done so, the limited partners likely would have been better off. Because the Complaint

does not allege particularized facts that support a conclusion that the General Partner

Board was grossly negligent or acted in bad faith in failing to stop the Partial Unwind, the

General Partner Board does not face a substantial likelihood of personal liability with

respect to this claim. Accordingly, demand for this claim was not excused and it must be

dismissed.

2. Implied breaches

DiRienzo has alleged that each express breach of contract claim in Count VI

alternatively also presents a claim for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and

[V^g YZVa^c\ (i]Z t^bea^ZY XdkZcVciu), M]Z ?ZaVlVgZ LjegZbZ >djgi ^c Gerber v.

Enterprise Products Holdings, LLC recently affirmed that the implied covenant only
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applies to the parties of a contract.151 When a corporation is a party to a contract, the

XdgedgVi^dcwh Y^gZXidgh Yd cdi WZXdbZ eVgi^Zh id i]Vi V\gZZbZci Wn k^gijZ d[ i]Z^g edh^i^dc

with the corporation.152 In this case, only the General Partner, and not the General

Partner Board, is a party to the relevant agreements. Accordingly, the directors of the

General Partner Board cannot be liable for a breach of the implied covenant. For

DiRienzo to demonstrate that the General Partner Board faces a substantial likelihood of

personal liability for his implied covenant claims, DiRienzo must establish both that the

General Partner breached the implied covenant and that the General Partner Board

breached its duties under the LPA in allowing or facilitating that breach.

DiRienzo has asserted the General Partner breached the implied covenant by: (1)

acting without General Partner Board oversight from January 1, 2009 to October 2009 in

violation of the LPA; (2) causing the Partial Unwind and distributing 62.5% of the

JVgicZgh]^ewh H<O id Iei^dc = DckZhidgh ^c k^daVi^dc d[ LZXi^dc 5,1 d[ i]Z FJ<9 (1)

gVi^[n^c\ i]Z JVgi^Va Ncl^cY WVhZY hdaZan dc LJ DDwh ^ciZgcVa bVcV\ZbZci kVajVi^dch9 (2)

causing SPH to assume, and authorizing the payment of, the Deferred Fee Liability; and

(5) issuing SPH common units to Option B Investors. I already have concluded that

151 Gerber v. Enter. Products Hldgs., LLC, 67 A.3d 400, 421 n.31 (?Za, 0./1) (tPZ
reject Gerberws argument that the implied covenant applies to nonparties to the
contract.u),

152 Id. Vi 2/0 (V[[^gb^c\ >djgi d[ >]VcXZgnwh YZiZgb^cVi^dc i]Vi tdcan @ciZgeg^hZ
Products GPsbut not its Affiliates (Duncan, EPCO, and the Director Defendants)
ssigned the LPA VcY WZXVbZ hjW_ZXi id i]Z ^bea^ZY XdkZcVciu) (citation and
internal quotation omitted).
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DiRienzo has failed to allege facts that would support a reasonable inference that the

General Partner Board either acted in bad faith or was grossly negligent with respect to

the actions that serve as a basis for the third, fourth, and fifth implied covenant claims.

Thus, even if the General Partner breached the implied covenant in those cases, the Board

would not face a substantial likelihood of liability, and demand would not be excused

under either Aronson or Rales. I next address whether demand is excused for either the

first or the second implied covenant claims.

a. Demand is not excused for the first implied covenant claim

M]Z XdcYjXi jcYZgan^c\ ?^K^Zcodwh [^ghi ^bea^ZY XdkZcVci XaV^b dXXjggZY l]Zc

there was no General Partner Board, and thus, Rales is the appropriate standard for

demand futility. Even assuming that the General Partner breached the implied covenant

by acting without board oversight, however, the General Partner Board would not face a

substantial likelihood of personal liability. The General Partner Board could not have

been grossly negligent or have acted in bad faith by allowing the General Partner to

deZgViZ l^i]dji hjeZgk^h^dc WZXVjhZ i]Z BZcZgVa JVgicZg =dVgY+ VXXdgY^c\ id ?^K^Zcodwh

own allegations, did not exist during this time period. As there is no substantial

likelihood of personal liability for the General Partner Board, demand is not excused, and

this claim must be dismissed.

b. Demand is not excused for the second implied covenant claim

?^K^Zcodwh ^bea^ZY XdkZcVci XaV^b gZ\VgY^c\ i]Z Y^hig^Wji^dc d[ $53. b^aa^dc ^c

SPH assets to Option B Investors fails for the same reasons as his first claim did. The

Partial Unwind was implemented on July 15, 2009. There was no General Partner Board
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on July 15, 2009. Therefore, even assuming the General Partner breached the implied

covenant of the LPA by executing the Partial Unwind, the General Partner Board cannot

be said to have acted in bad faith or with gross negligence at a time when it did not exist.

Because DiRienzo has failed to establish that demand is excused for any of his breach of

the implied covenant claims, I dismiss Count VI in its entirety.

G. Count VIII of the Amended Complaint153

In his final derivative claim, DiRienzo alleges that Lichtenstein (as Managing

Member of the General Partner), the General Partner Board, and the Manager aided and

abetted the General JVgicZgwh WgZVX] d[ ^ih common law and contractual fiduciary duties

to SPH. A claim for aiding and abetting a breach of fiduciary duty or contractual

fiduciary duty requires an underlying breach that was aided or abetted.154 As Counts IV,

V, VI, and VII have been dismissed, there are no valid claims that the General Partner

breached any fiduciary duty or contractual fiduciary duty to SPH. It follows, therefore,

153 The claims in Count VII of the Complaint are essentially identical to, and
Yjea^XVi^kZ d[+ ?^K^Zcodwh ^bea^ZY XdkZcVci XaV^bh ^c >djci OD, Therefore, for
the reasons I stated in my discussion of implied contractual duties in Count VI,
Count VII is dismissed.

154
7?? -FJA;D 5RHI% 1&5& L& .;CCMFF> 6?;CJO 5RHI% 1&5&, 817 A.2d 160, 172 (Del.
0..0) (tM]Z ZaZbZcih d[ V XaV^b [dg V^Y^c\ VcY VWZii^c\ V WgZVX] d[ V [^YjX^Vgn
duty are: (1) the existence of a fiduciary relationship, (2) the fiduciary breached its
duty, (3) a defendant, who is not a fiduciary, knowingly participated in a breach,
and (4) damages to the plaintiff resulted from the concerted action of the fiduciary
and the non-[^YjX^Vgnu) (quoting Fitzgerald v. Cantor, 1999 WL 182573, at *1
(Del. Ch. Mar. 25, 1999)).
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that there cannot be a valid aiding and abetting claim premised on such breaches.

Accordingly, Count VIII is dismissed.

III. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Defendantsw motion to dismiss derivative Counts IV, V,

VI, VII, and VIII ^h \gVciZY, M]Z LeZX^Va >dbb^iiZZwh bdi^dc id Y^hb^hh Y^gZXi >djcih D

and III against Defendants Mullen and Schwarz is also granted.

IT IS SO ORDERED.


